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Monday, November 24, 2014

--- Upon commencing at 9:36 a.m.
MS. LONG:  Good morning, everyone.  We are sitting today in an application by Union Gas Limited for an order approving a new interruptible natural gas liquefaction service.  The application is brought under section 36 of the OEB Act.  The Board has assigned this application Board file number EB-2014-0012.


Union has proposed to provide the new service at its liquefied natural gas facility at Hagar, Ontario, in order to provide LNG to wholesale distributors for use as motor vehicle fuel.  Union has requested a new rate, L1 rate schedule, and a cost base rate to provide the service at Hagar.


The application was filed on May 14th, and the Board 

issued a Notice of Application in hearing June 16th, 2014.  The Building Owners and Managers Association, the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters, Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., the Industrial Gas Users Association, Northeast Midstream LP, Energy Probe, and the School Energy Coalition have been granted intervenor status.


On October 15th, Northeast Midstream LP filed a motion pursuant to section 29 of the Ontario Energy Board Act requesting that the Board refrain from regulating and approving the terms, conditions and rates for the interruptible natural gas service requested by Union.


The Board has decided to hear both the motion and the application orally.  My name is Christine Long, and I will be presiding in this matter.  Along with me are my colleagues, Marika Hare and Cathy Spoel.


May I have appearances, please?  


APPEARANCES:
     MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer, on behalf of Union Gas Limited, and with me is Ms. Karen Hockin and Mr. Chris Gagner of Union Gas.  


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

     MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel.  Tom Brett for the Building Owners and Managers Association.  


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.  Good morning.

     MR. LEDERMAN:  David Lederman for Northeast Midstream LP, and I'm joined by John Wolnik, who is an independent consultant providing natural gas advice to Northeast Midstream.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Lederman.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Emma Blanchard, and I'm here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Blanchard, good morning.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning.

     DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, Panel.  My name's Roger Higgin and I'm here for Energy Probe, and with me today is Ms. Shelley Grice.  

     MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin and Ms. Grice, thank you.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition. 

     MS. LONG:  Good morning, Mr. Rubenstein.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board staff.  I'm joined today by Khalil Viraney.

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters?  


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I have one preliminary matter, and just more, I guess, on the level of clarification with respect to the process that we're having today.

It's our understanding that we are going to deal with the motion first, and I guess the thing I was trying to clarify was whether we were hearing submissions on the motion today or at the end of the motion and then proceeding into the application, at which time there would be submissions on the application.  And I raise it because there may be some efficiencies to actually hearing submissions on the motion and the application at the same time, because there are overlapping issues and facts that may drift into both the motion and the application.

To the extent that it may be that rather than going through it twice with respect to similar facts and similar issues, that we would actually deal with them both, I would think that counsel would be able to delineate within the context of that submission, if it was a combined one, that they were addressing either the motion or the application in the course of their submissions.

So I raise that just, one, for point of clarification, and also in a view that it may be more efficient to have one submission at the end of the proceeding covering off both aspects.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  The Panel has discussed this, and obviously this is a different situation that we're hearing a motion and application, but it is our preference to deal with the motion in and of itself.

So we will do the cross-examination on the affidavits, then we will hear the motion with argument, and then we will hear the application after that.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. LONG:  So with that being said, Mr. Lederman, you have your witness here for cross-examination?  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes, I do.  I have Dr. Stephen Gaske, who has put expert evidence in, as well as Joshua Samuel, a factual affiant.

Mr. Samuel speaks to the background to Northeast Midstream.  I don't believe the intentions on the part of Union is to examine Mr. Samuel, so he need not appear, subject to what -- the Board's desire, the Panel's desire.  But he is available now.

And Dr. Gaske is also here, and I propose to lead Dr. Gaske briefly in-chief to see if his expert credentials are accepted by this Panel, and have him summarize very briefly the affidavit evidence he has put forward prior to his cross-examination.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Lederman, we would like to have both of your witnesses approach the Panel, and they will be affirmed.

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Thank you, gentlemen.  If you will take a seat, and Ms. Hare will do your affirmation.  


NORTHEAST MIDSTREAM LP - PANEL 1


Dr. Stephen Gaske, Affirmed


Joshua Samuel, Affirmed

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Lederman, do you want to proceed?  


EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. LEDERMAN:
     MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  I'll begin by asking some questions of Dr. Gaske.  

     DR. GASKE:  Is the microphone on?  Hello?  

     MR. MILLAR:  There should be a green light that comes on. 

     DR. GASKE:  Sorry.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Dr. Gaske, you have sworn two affidavits in this proceeding.  Do you have those affidavits with you today?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  All right.  And you have a Ph.D. in public utility economics from Indiana University?

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  And what year did you obtain your Ph.D.? 

     DR. GASKE:  1987. 

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Can you advise the Board and the Panel what your thesis was?  

     DR. GASKE:  It was two-part, tariffs, welfare, and the cost of capital -– two-part tariffs, welfare and the cost of capital --

     MS. LONG:  Dr. Gaske, maybe if you move your mic over just a little bit closer to you, that might help.

Not working?  

     MR. MILLAR:  The green light should be activated.  

     DR. GASKE:  It is.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe turn it off and on.


DR. GASKE:  The light was on, but the mic wasn't working.


Anyway, it was two-part, tariffs, welfare and the cost of capital to the regulated firm.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  I understand you work for Concentric Energy Advisors?

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  And can you describe what that body does, what Concentric Energy does?  

     DR. GASKE:  We are public utility consultants and consultants on energy matters to firms throughout North America.  We do financial economic ratemaking, accounting and commercial consulting for public utilities, pipelines

and other entities.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  How long have you been with Concentric Energy Advisors?

     DR. GASKE:  Almost seven years now. 

     MR. LEDERMAN:  And before that, what did you do? 

     DR. GASKE:  Before that, I was with H. Zinder & Associates, a similar public utility consulting firm, and I was president of that firm for eight years.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  You have your CV attached as Exhibit A to your affidavit sworn October 15, 2014.

And under the second page of your resume, you have a heading, "Litigation support and testimony."  Can you describe to the Panel generally the nature of the work that you've set out under that heading?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  This section actually lists commissions and topics on which I've filed testimony, or testified throughout North America.  It lists each of the commissions and the topics. 

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Have you appeared before the Ontario Energy Board before?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  On what occasion?  Do you recall?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, in 2006 I testified in the NGEIR Decision, or NGEIR proceeding, and the topics that I addressed were market power and regulatory theory.

In, I believe, 2009, I testified in the generic cost of capital proceeding here in Toronto.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Okay.  And I see from your CV that you've appeared before the National Energy Board of Canada?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  And what was the evidence that you gave in that proceeding related to?  

     DR. GASKE:  There are a few proceedings that I filed 

evidence in before the NEB.  One was a Trans Mountain oil 

pipeline proceeding, where I addressed essentially regulatory theory as applied to the oil pipeline and tariff matters.  

I have also testified or filed testimony on behalf of Nova Gas Transmission Ltd. on the cost allocation and rate design for their pipeline operations in Alberta.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Coming back to your experience in the 

Ontario -- before the Ontario Energy Board, do you recall whether, in either of those instances when you testified, whether you were qualified as an expert witness?  

     DR. GASKE:  I don't specifically recall voir dire -- but you're talking about the OEB testimonies?  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Right.  

     DR. GASKE:  I don't specifically recall voir dire, but I don't think anybody challenged it.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Can you tell the Panel what percentage of your work in the last seven years is in the public utilities arena, with an emphasis on gas and competition?

     DR. GASKE:  Probably about half of it.  Various forms of competition, but probably about half.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Members of the Panel, I would ask that 

Dr. Gaske be qualified as an expert on public utilities and 

economics, with a particular expertise in gas and competition.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Keizer, do you have any comments on that?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I do have questions with respect to Dr. Gaske's credentials, if I might.  

     MS. LONG:  You can proceed now.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

So, Dr. Gaske, if I look at your CV, I see that you have testified -- predominantly, it appears to be in rate regulatory matters, at least with respect to the items that are under the heading, "Litigation support and expert testimony"; is that correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And in this proceeding, we are basically 

discussing the LNG business and the provision of LNG services.  Have you specifically provided testimony or expert advice or opinion before a regulatory board in respect of those matters relating to LNG?  

     DR. GASKE:  I've testified on LNG matters, rate of return in particular.  But not competition and the application of regulation.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And likewise, have you given similar evidence with respect to the transportation industry, and the application of LNG in the context of a motor vehicle fuel market or a transportation fuel market?  

     DR. GASKE:  Not testimony.  I've done work in that area, but --

     MR. KEIZER:  You indicated to Mr. Lederman that approximately 50 percent of your work was relating to public utilities and competition.  

But I find it interesting.  If 50 percent of your work relates to that, I don't see other elements with respect to competition on your CV.   

     DR. GASKE:  My response was related to competition in 

various forms.  If you look at specifically the type of 

competition analysis here in this proceeding, I did something similar for Ventures Pipeline before the Alberta Utilities Commission years ago.  

I have testified on basic regulatory principles for Intragas before the Regie.  In prior years, prior to the last five years, I was designated -- or prepared an expert report in an anti-trust proceeding involving -- two anti-trust proceedings involving gas gathering operations. But those were not filed, because they settled.  

I did a couple of market power analyses for storage 

companies that were seeking market-based rates in the US  Those were filed, but not under my name.  They were just market power studies attached to the lawyers' pleadings.  

In recent years, the cost allocation work that I've done, about half of it involves allocation of costs in rate -- in competitive settings, and how to address that and address competition.  

A number of projects that I've worked on have involved constructing new pipeline facilities in a competitive setting, and so analyzing the competitive market for that.  

In my gas pipeline rate of return testimonies, I 

routinely analyze the extent and measure of competition in the market served by the pipeline, as part of my risk analysis.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And have you -- I note that most of those are in the context of -- the regulated context.  But have you provided advice in respect of the application of the Competition Act, or anything in relation to the Competition Bureau?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, in the Ventures proceeding, I did.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And the Ventures proceeding was which one again, sorry?

     DR. GASKE:  That was before the Alberta Utilities 

Commission. 

     MR. KEIZER:  And that related to the application of a competitive market?  

     DR. GASKE:  It was a question of whether the market was competitive or uncompetitive.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Can I have one moment?

     MS. LONG:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  I take no position on his expertise.  

     MS. LONG:  You take no position on his expertise?  Do any of the other intervenors have any questions for Dr. Gaske before we proceed, with respect to his qualifications?  Board Staff?  Okay.  

Then, Mr. Lederman, we're going to proceed.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Thank you.  

Dr. Gaske, you indicated that you had your two affidavits before you.  This is the affidavit of October 15th and the affidavit of November 6.

And I would like to mark those affidavits as Exhibits 1 and 2, if that's the Panel's practice, and if it's not, the affidavits are before the Panel in the motion record and I need not mark them as exhibits if the Panel desires us not to.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, the affidavits have been prefiled.  I don't believe it's necessary to mark them.  If you prefer, we can do them under our normal exhibit system.  

     MS. LONG:  I think it's fine if you just refer to the affidavits by their date.  I think that's enough for us to be able to identify them.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Dr. Gaske, some questions that I would like to just take you through, primarily involving your first affidavit, the October 15th affidavit.  So if you have that before you, I would just, by way of background for everybody in the room and for the Panel, just want you to assist the Panel with the evidence that you have put forward.


At page 2 of this affidavit, you'll see that you have a heading, "Summary of affidavit."  Can you tell the Panel what it is that you were asked to do by Northeast Midstream LP, specifically what your mandate was?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  The mandate was to evaluate whether the LNG market is competitive and subject to sufficient competition to protect the public interest.  And in the rest of the affidavit, I do that evaluation and respond to various arguments that are in the proceeding regarding competition.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Also on page 2 there is a heading, "Union proposal."  Can you explain to the Panel what you intended to do in this section of your affidavit?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  To simply summarize the Union proposal, to set a framework for the discussion and the rest of the evidence.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  On page 3 there's a heading, "OEB policy and precedence for forbearance."  Can you describe for the Panel what you intended to do in this section of your affidavit?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  I quote what I believe are the relevant portions of section 29 regarding whether the Board should regulate and what kinds of findings it would make with regard to regulation, and I also point to the NGEIR Decision and the earlier Decision of the Board to forbear from regulation in the storage market.  And I also quote an NEB decision concerning the public interest desirability of essentially promoting competition.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  And having reviewed the Decision in NGEIR, were you able to draw any conclusions in respect of OEB policy towards forbearance?  

     DR. GASKE:  The policy that was promoted in NGEIR was that to the extent that storage facilities are operating in a competitive market, they should be unregulated, they should be -- at least the costs separated from the captive utility market, at least the legacy captive utility market.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  If you go to page 4 of your affidavit there's a heading, "Determination of relevant product and geographic market."  Can you summarize what you addressed in your affidavit under this section?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  In -- doing a market power analysis, typically you have to define what the product is and what the geographic market is.  Here, I define it as -- the product market as the product for fuels for heavy-duty transportation equipment, and the geographic market includes Ontario and at least -- at the very least, an area of about 700 kilometres around the Hagar facility, which would include Quebec and a number of the northern tier states in the United States.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  In the next section of your report or your affidavit, starting at page 6, you have a heading, "LNG transportation fuel market characteristics."  What do you address in this section of your affidavit?  

     DR. GASKE:  The general characteristics of the LNG market and the production of LNG for use by transportation fuels and how that market is developing, but what are some of the economic tradeoffs that occur when people decide to adopt LNG as a transportation fuel.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  In the next section of your affidavit, beginning on page 8, there's a heading, "Competition in the fuel market".  Can you advise the Panel what you attempt to address in this section of your affidavit?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, the extent of competition, and I do two levels of analysis.  One is the overall transportation fuel market, which is overwhelmingly dominated by diesel fuel at this point in time, and so the discussion of the competitiveness of the diesel fuel market and the factors that an LNG provider has to overcome to compete in this market.


And then at a different level, I discuss the competitiveness of the LNG fuel market specifically.

And in the first analysis, the diesel market, there's very good data on who the refiners are, where they're located, and so you can see that it's a competitive market.  There are a fairly large number of refineries within the relevant geographic area.


In the LNG fuel market, it's a -- essentially, it's a brand new market, so the market shares are not particularly relevant and there aren't really good data on market shares, but it's expected that that market will grow rapidly.  So the focus of the analysis there was on how hard is it to enter the LNG fuel market, and I describe, you know, some of the various ways entities are entering the market, alternative business models, the difficulty with actually constructing an LNG fuel facility, and conclude that it's quite easy to enter the market, and it's nothing like a natural monopoly regulated utility business.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  At page 17 of your first affidavit there's a heading, "Public interest benefits of forbearance."  Can you summarize for the Panel what you intended to address in this section of your affidavit?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, there are really two concepts here.

One is that the idea of a competitive market, a freely competitive market, is the best way to promote consumer interest, and that's particularly true in this new LNG fuel market, primarily because there are many different business models that may be adopted, and different business models have been adopted in various places around the world.  And there's no way of telling which model will best serve the interests of consumers.  So competition is particularly important in that market.


The second thing is that the idea that the proposal to provide LNG fuel by Union under the umbrella of 

regulation can be an inhibitor to that market, and would not be as good for the public interest as simply leaving it as an unregulated activity.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Dr. Gaske, having gone through an analysis of the product in question, LNG, the geographic market, the market conditions and your view of the public interest, were you able to draw any conclusions as to whether the distribution of LNG as a transportation fuel is the type of activity which requires active regulation by this Board?  

     DR. GASKE:  It does not.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Thank you, Dr. Gaske.  Those are all my 

questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Lederman.  Mr. Keizer, are you going to start the cross-examination?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I've spoken to my colleagues, and they have pushed me to the front.  

     MS. LONG:  Very good.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. KEIZER:

     MR. KEIZER:  Good morning once again, Dr. Gaske.  My 

questions will be primarily for you.  

If I could ask you to look at your affidavit that's dated October 15, in particular paragraph 8 of your affidavit, it says at the bottom of that paragraph, it says:

"In other words, the Competition Bureau considers a market to be workably competitive if no company can raise prices more than five percent above a competitive market level for a period of a year or more."

I just wanted to explore that for a moment.  This is one of the factors that you rely on when you looked at the competitive fuel market overall, with respect to 

including diesel and other aspects, to come to the conclusion that that market itself was competitive or workably competitive; is that correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  I should say that -- I should qualify this, that the test typically is you cannot raise prices profitably more than 5 percent.  Anyone can raise their price 5 percent, but they might lose their market.  

     MR. KEIZER:  In any event, your statement is as you have put it there.  I'm not going to quibble with the test that you’ve applied.  

And you reached that with respect to the main transportation fuel market because, as I think you said in your examination-in-chief, there's a lot of refiners, there's a lot of parties who are actually, you know, making available diesel fuel, and that's the reason for your conclusion in that regard.  

     DR. GASKE:  And also the nature of the LNG fuel market, that it is easy to enter it and that --  

     MR. KEIZER:  I didn't ask about LNG fuel.  I just want to focus first on transportation market, where you're dealing with diesel and LNG, and we'll get to LNG market in a moment.  

     DR. GASKE:  Well, the sentence that you quoted in my 

conclusions in that regard apply to both diesel and LNG and the competition -- the joint nature of the competition.  But I'm happy to focus just on -- 

     MR. KEIZER:  Within the context of transportation fuel, where you could buy from either diesel and LNG?  

     DR. GASKE:  That's one aspect of it, yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Because that's the context, though, in which you raised it in this report?  

     DR. GASKE:  That's one of the – now, that is one of the contexts, the diesel versus LNG.  And then the second context is the LNG versus LNG.  

MR. KEIZER:  And so when you say -- and I believe it's in paragraph 22 of your affidavit -- that you reached the conclusion, which I believe says that you've gone through various analyses with respect to diesel LNG, and came to the conclusion the market for heavy-duty transportation fuel meets Competition Bureau standards that a competitor would not be able to profitably sustain a price that is 5 percent above the competitive market level for a year.  

So you're applying that standard in the context of that market with respect to diesel and LNG -– and I have –- you continue to agree with the comment that I just read to you from your affidavit; correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Right.  And the next paragraph is when I switch then to the LNG market.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Right, and I'll explore that with you in a moment.  

     DR. GASKE:  Okay.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And it's on that basis that you say at the end of that paragraph:

"In other words, competition in this market is sufficient to promote the public interest."

Correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  But in the matter before the Board, we're 

not dealing with specifically diesel fuel, or contemplation of the use of diesel fuel.  We're contemplating the use of LNG as a -- whether it's a regulated activity or whether it's a competitive activity.  

And so do you –- you then switch in your report to the 

next paragraph, where you actually say:  Well, I'm not going to apply that test now.  I think that test doesn't apply here, and I'm going to apply a different test and do it on another basis.  

And I think what you say in the next paragraph, at line 15 of paragraph 23, is:

"... I believe the focus of the LNG fuel competition analysis should be on the extent to which there are barriers to competitive entry..."

And I want to explore that with you for a moment.  So why is it in one part of your analysis you apply a Competition Bureau metric, you continue to apply that through your analysis, you conclude that that's in the public interest, but then when we actually speak specifically about the LNG, you say:  Well, no, no, no, I am not going to apply that test anymore; I'm going to apply a different test.

     DR. GASKE:  I'm applying the same Competition Bureau test throughout, in terms of the ability to raise prices above 5 percent.  

In the first instance where I look at the competition 

with the diesel market, that, in fact, is what the LNG fuel is competing with.  And the whole existence of the LNG fuel market depends on how big of a difference there is between LNG and diesel fuel to justify the extra expenditure for a truck that will cost significantly more if it's outfitted for LNG fuel.  

So its prices have to overcome the differential, or that extra cost of the truck, and have prices low enough to entice people to move away from diesel and to stay on LNG even after they've switched, because, as I note, typically these heavy-duty trucks are replaced about every four years.  So within a year, you could lose 25 percent of your market back to diesel, if you don't maintain a large enough spread between the diesel price and the LNG fuel price.  

In the second -- in the first instance with diesel, I 

partially demonstrate the competitive nature of the 

market by looking at relative market shares of the different refineries that provide it.  And so that's one test.  

The Competition Bureau applies a variety of different tests.  I don't think -- and this goes directly to what your question was as to why a different test for a narrowly defined LNG fuel market -- and as I explain in the evidence, there is no good data on the market shares in the LNG fuel market at this point in time.  It's a brand new, rapidly growing market, so market shares aren't the best measure of market power.  The best measure of market power is ease of entry.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So you've said this on a couple of occasions, that you have this -– one, you suggest the market is new, and that's the point for you to adopt this standard as opposed to the one you previously adopted to actually evaluate diesel and LNG; correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And you've also stated that the market is rapidly expanding.  So I guess I'm struggling with that commentary with respect to its rapid expansion.  My understanding -- I believe it's in your affidavit -- that Shell, for example, has expanded indefinitely its LNG facilities, so if it's suspended its facility indefinitely, how is the market expanding rapidly? 

     DR. GASKE:  Well, Northeast Midstream and Union seem to be going forward, and when I look around the country other people are looking at the same thing.  A number of the truck manufacturers have started producing increasing numbers of LNG-fuelled trucks, so that tells me the market is expanding. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Although neither Northeast or Union has yet to sell any LNG.


One question, though, with respect to the standard that you've adopted for consideration of the LNG transportation fuel only.  You indicated that there's a variety of competition tests, but I note that in your affidavit you indicate that you believe that this is the test that should apply with respect to the consideration of the LNG competitive fuel market, but you provide no authority for that.

Is there a basis for you to reach that conclusion?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  In paragraph 11 of my affidavit, I discuss the -- and quote the Competition Bureau's view that ease of entry and the amount of some cost involved and incumbent reactions are also important considerations in addition to pure market shares.  

     MR. KEIZER:  That's the basis of that conclusion?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  You also indicate at paragraph 25 that a competitive market for LNG fuel already exists in Ontario, but the basis of that conclusion is really just a statement from Union Gas; correct?  That -- which is quoted at lines 5 to 7, that there are two other stations in Ontario, Cornwall and Woodstock?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So beyond that statement that you have from Union Gas, was there any other independent verification that you made with respect to that conclusion?

Can I ask what you just said?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  He said they exist.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  

     DR. GASKE:  The -- the fact that LNG is being provided in Ontario from facilities in Montreal and Indianapolis tells me that it's not hard to bring LNG in from fairly large distances.  In addition, I discuss in there the various options for non-stationary LNG, gasification plants or liquefaction plants, to be moved in and out of a market on fairly short notice.  


MR. KEIZER:  You actually indicate later on in that paragraph to say:

"The existence of non-stationary LNG liquefaction facilities [...] indicates that it can be very easy both to enter, and to exit, the market for this service.  Ease of entry and exit is a good indicator of a potentially competitive market..."


Well, I thought we were considering your workable competitive market, not a potentially competitive market?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, the term of art usually used in these kinds of analyses is:  Are there potential competitors that are not in the market but could enter easily?  

     MR. KEIZER:  But that's not what you said.  You've said a "potentially competitive market."  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, and that might have been awkward phrasing.  The last sentence of that paragraph, I refer to other potential competitors who could readily move equipment into the market, and so you're absolutely right in clarifying.  It is a competitive market because there are potential competitors.  

     MR. KEIZER:  But have you studied the impact of these non-stationary liquefaction facilities?  Have you considered their impacts on a marketplace?

     DR. GASKE:  Could you clarify?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Well, I mean, you've indicated other than the fact that it's non-stationary, which means -- I assume that means you can move it around -- have you actually studied whether they're economically viable in Ontario, whether or not you actually can have a significant impact with respect to Ontario?  Has any of that study been done by you in particular?  

     DR. GASKE:  No.  I base my decision or view on the fact that they are commonly used.  And I believe they're being used in Ontario, according to Union.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So with respect to your comment at paragraph 27, where you talk about the Shell project, particularly at line 4, you say:

"Although the Shell project is suspended indefinitely, it could be revived at any time."


Have you actually considered that?  Have you spoken with someone at Shell as to whether that is the case?  It's a pretty simple question.  Did you speak to someone at Shell about whether that was the case?  

     DR. GASKE:  Well, about a year ago I had a fairly lengthy meeting with the person at Shell who's in charge of their LNG operations, and I'm just trying to remember whether he indicated that or not.


But the reason I say it could be revived is that they didn't say they were cancelling it; they said they were suspending it.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So you base it on the fact that the word "suspended" was used, but you don't know necessarily the viability of it or the timeliness of it?  

     DR. GASKE:  That's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  I just want to turn back into your affidavit, back to paragraph -- one moment, sorry.  Back to paragraph 15.  This is where you're actually discussing the investments in the LNG fuel infrastructure.  And you're asking, I guess -- considering in particular where it says that it's a risky endeavour with respect to investing in LNG fuel infrastructure.  And actually, your comment says it -- that those -- it's a risky endeavour because it depends on a highly uncertain market at this time.


And so is that another way, I guess, of concluding -- and I think you've said it a few times.  You've said it's a new market, you've said it's potentially competitive, you've said it's an uncertain market.

So you would say all of those characteristics add up to something that's a fairly nascent market in its early stages; correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  I have -- what you've just said is correct, but what I focus on in that particular paragraph is the fact that it really depends on the spread between gas prices and diesel prices, and those are highly volatile.  So if diesel prices come down and/or gas prices go up, the whole market can disappear.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And actually, the other thing you're getting at, I think, in this is the fact that for someone to make a conclusion to go and buy a truck -- and my understanding is a truck that runs on LNG has to be specifically built for that purpose, and actually -- is 

that where the premium in cost of $50,000 to $75,000 comes into play?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So if someone is going to make that decision, they have to know that they can actually get a payback on that additional investment, when they could simply buy a diesel truck for $50,000 to $75,000 less; is that correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  They have to expect to, yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And because of the turnover period -- it's a very short turnover period; two to four years, I believe you said?  


That's the break-even point depending on the cost, I guess, in your comparison?

     DR. GASKE:  Let me just clarify.  Are we still talking about paragraph 15, or is this a standalone question?  

MR. KEIZER:  I am.

DR. GASKE:  Okay.  Well, paragraph 15 is dealing with LNG fuel infrastructure.  So, for example, the idea of building a liquefaction and dispensing facility, that 

only succeeds as long as truckers or trucking companies are willing to use it.

And so if they switch out, if they switch to LNG but then they switch away from it within four years, they maybe don't lose the value of their investment.  But someone who builds a liquefaction and dispensing facility with a 20- or 30-year depreciation life, they can lose all their 

investment.  That's what I'm getting at in the infrastructure --

     MR. KEIZER:   I understand.  I guess I'm using your paragraph to get a better understanding of the other aspect of the market, which is on the consumption side.

So part of what we're here today to talk about is the 

implication of LNG in the transportation fuel market.  And, I think, what your paragraph -- I also think seems to be saying is if I'm a trucking company, and I have a fleet of a hundred trucks, or I have a fleet of a number of trucks and I want to pursue an LNG service, I'm going to have to look at spending $50,000 to $75,000 per truck, in addition to what I normally would spend if I want to outfit my fleet to LNG; correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So in that circumstance, they need to be able to identify, as you've said, the price spread between LNG and diesel; is that correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  That's correct. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Do you know what the current price of LNG is in Ontario?  

     DR. GASKE:  I don't know that it's a published price.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So you haven't -- wouldn't the buyers and sellers – you’ve indicated that you are in a highly volatile market for LNG and diesel.  How would you know that, if you don't know the price?  

     DR. GASKE:  What the current trend towards LNG is running off of is the difference between the price of raw natural gas versus the price of diesel, so that spread.  And then in between that spread, you have additional costs of the trucks and you have additional costs of the liquefaction equipment.  

So we know what -- we have pretty good indicators of the price of diesel and the price of natural gas and 

how they fluctuate, and the fact that the spread has increased greatly in recent years is what's driving this market.  

     MR. KEIZER:  But still, you have -- the LNG is something different than taking gas from a pipe, an industrial process, whatever else.  It has to be liquefied, it has actually have a facility that does that, and 

that all adds to cost.

So if I'm buying something which is an LNG, a liquefied natural gas, it has a different cost than necessarily the input into that process; correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Very definitely.  The price of gas is the base cost, and then you add on the cost of liquefaction.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So in a circumstance where we're talking about LNG, we're not talking about the natural gas markets here.  I mean, clearly we all know where that is, and what that natural gas market is.  

But in a circumstance where we have an LNG market, if you have no price discovery, how can you really say that there is a market?  

     DR. GASKE:  Well, you have price discovery on the natural gas input.  And then you have competition between people who can offer to provide liquefaction services.

And, you know, I'm sure trucking companies are approached all the time by people proposing to provide liquefaction services.

So it may not be publicly-available information, but the price that is being offered is probably known to the 

trucking companies.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Are you aware of any trucking companies in Ontario that are switching to LNG?  

     DR. GASKE:  Well, Roberts is the primary one I'm aware of. 

     MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to establishment of that 

price, I mean, other than, I guess, the two parties you've talked about -- Northeast and, I guess, Union otherwise -- they're not yet in the market with respect to the price discovery; correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  That's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  One would assume, though, if I was a buyer and I was going to make this conclusion where I had to buy or spend $50,000 to $75,000 on my trucks, would I not only want to know the price, which I would attempt to find out, but I would assume that I would want a stable and consistent supply of LNG as well?

     DR. GASKE:  That is correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  I just want to take you to -- and I'm conscious of the time here, but I think I'm still under my allotment -- to paragraph 39 of your affidavit.  

And at paragraph 39 of your affidavit, you say that:

"If the LNG fuel market grows, it is unlikely that Union will remain small.  Instead, it can reasonably be anticipated that Union initially will expand its Hagar LNG fuel capacity in an attempt to capture as much market share as possible."

So my question to you is:  Did you meet with anyone at Union, with respect to your ability to reach that 

conclusion?  

     DR. GASKE:  No, I did not.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And did you find that anywhere in the evidence in this proceeding?  

     DR. GASKE:  No, I did not.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And did you confirm it from any other third-party source?  

     DR. GASKE:  No.  

     MR. KEIZER:  I believe there is an affidavit filed by Mr. Fay in this proceeding, who is a representative with Union Gas.  Did you read his affidavit?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, I did.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And did you see within his affidavit commentary with respect to the use of Hagar as a system integrity asset?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And so we're saying -- he indicates that:

"Because of the Hagar Facility's importance for system integrity, Union can only offer the proposed liquefaction service on an interruptible basis.  The service is effectively controlled by Union's distribution needs should there be a system integrity event."

Do you see that?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So he submitted that affidavit signed October 23rd.  You then provided a supplementary affidavit, which is November 6.  And I believe at -- sorry, one moment.


Sorry.  I wanted to take you to a particular comment, but effectively -- unfortunately, I can't turn it up at the moment.


But the comment was that you still believe that they were going to expand Hagar, and that Hagar could easily be changed from a system integrity asset to one that is predominantly for LNG purposes.


Do you recall making that statement in your affidavit?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  It was in the context of the observation that Hagar is rarely used, and that if you look at the past five years. nearly all of the facility could be used for LNG, so that you could very quickly make that the predominant use of the facility.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Are you an engineer, sir?  

     DR. GASKE:  No.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And do you have knowledge in respect of system integrity?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So you've run system integrity assets? 

     DR. GASKE:  Now, I've worked with gas companies my entire career, so I have a basic understanding of system integrity concepts.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So do I, Dr. Gaske.


Just a general question.  I note that you have done various and given various evidence with respect to rate-related matters.  It's a pretty fundamental principle of ratemaking, is it not, that before assets are added to rate base, that they have to pass a prudence review?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And so that includes an assessment of whether that's in the interest of ratepayers, with the interest of -- the public interest, as to whether it would be added to rate base?  

     DR. GASKE:  That's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And so in effect for discretionary investments in rate base, whether or not that makes economic sense to do so?  

     DR. GASKE:  Generally, yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And so with respect to certain assets, that economics would be -- you know, for example, the revenue stream that would be generated, you would have to provide some form of revenue forecast if you were adding assets with respect to customer additions or otherwise?  

     DR. GASKE:  That's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And if it wasn't economic, then the regulator could reject the addition of rate base? 

     DR. GASKE:  That is correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And even if it was added to rate base and the revenue forecast was wrong, then generally the utility is exposed to the volumetric risk?  

     DR. GASKE:  If they don't have a volume tracker, and they would be exposed to that risk until the -- until they file the next rate case. 

     MR. KEIZER:  And they'd be exposed to any cost increments as well, over and above what they forecast? 

     DR. GASKE:  If they don't have a tracker, yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And even if they came back and circumstances remained such that it was uneconomic, a ratemaking authority has certain tools that they could use to ensure that the ratepayers are insulated from either revenue deficiencies or cost increments?  

     DR. GASKE:  That is correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment?


Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.


Have the parties discussed who will be next in the order?  No?  Does anyone have a -- we're planning on taking a break at 11:00 o'clock.  But, Dr. Higgin, are you saying that you would like to start?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  My colleague will.  But we put an estimate of ten minutes, and I think we can stick with that --

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  So, Ms. Grice, you'll be asking the questions to start?  

     MS. GRICE:  Yes, I will.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. GRICE:
     MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  Okay.  If we can turn first to paragraph 5 of the motion that was filed on October the 15th related to Mr. Samuel's affidavit, so the first few questions are going to be for Mr. Samuel, and then the last part of our questions will be for Dr. Gaske.


Okay.  So at paragraph 5 it says:

"Northeast recognizes the evolving nature of the market for LNG, both as a transportation fuel and for other purposes.  Northeast therefore anticipates several competitive entrants into these markets.  More entrants will lead to more vibrant and widespread market for LNG."


So we just had a question:  Does Northeast consider Union's proposed refuelling facility with respect to transportation fuel a threat to its business plans, and if so, why?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  Northeast Midstream would consider Union Gas's liquefaction facility dispensing LNG into -- for transportation and other sort of non-utility uses as a competitive party.  So the extent to which competition provided is both an engine of innovation as well as an engine, you know -- as well as presents threats, and we would consider them as both.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And if -- I think you had a discussion with Mr. Keizer regarding the competitive transportation fuel market.  If you could just quickly summarize what you think are the main components of the competitive market for me, it would help me set up my next question.  

     DR. GASKE:  That's for me?  

     MS. GRICE:  I'm sorry, yes.  Sorry.  

     DR. GASKE:  Well, there are many variables at play in the competition.  The first one is:  Can they win market share away from the diesel fuel?  And we discussed that earlier, and that depends on the spread between diesel and natural gas, and it also depends on the cost of the liquefaction and dispensing facilities, and it also depends on the extra cost for outfitting a truck with LNG.


So that's one aspect of it.

In the -- as far as the provision of LNG goes, there are a number of different ways to do it.  You can build large fixed plants on a site or you can build micro plants.  Usually if you build a large plant, you're expecting to truck it somewhere else.  You can build micro plants right on-site where the trucks would fuel.


You can also use plants that are -- can be transported from one place to the other, so you can move them in and out of a market or a location almost at will.


So I don't know if -- the competitive aspects of market are -- is such a broad question, I don't know if that covers what you were looking for.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's fine.  Thank you.


So back to Mr. Samuel, if Northeast considers the transportation fuel market competitive, wouldn't additional competition be a good thing for the market?  I.e., Union's proposal?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  We believe competition is generally a good thing.  We also believe that competition should be done on a level playing field, and that the participants should all play by the same set of rules.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So can we please turn to paragraph 9 of your affidavit, Mr. Samuel?  At paragraph 9, it says:

"Northeast is concerned that, if Union is permitted entry into LNG market under a regulated rate regime whereby Union's distribution customers bear the risk of the proposed capital investment, it would provide an unfair competitive advantage to Union and the result would be a negative effect on the robust development of a fully competitive LNG market."  

We just want to understand a bit more about the unfair 

competitive advantage to Union -- or by Union.  Is your main issue related to the unfair competition posed by Union under a regulated rate umbrella?  Is it related to the potential cost price advantage relative to your greenfield facility, which would include lower cost of capital depreciation and fuel costs?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  I think the concern that we would have around unfair competitive advantage really relates to the risk that's borne by -- on the capital investment that's being proposed, such that when a private entity invests capital into property, plant and equipment, it's typically the equity holders that bear the risk.  

In this case, where the asset is rate-protected, it would be the ratepayers, not the equity holders, bearing the risk, and that can lead to what we deem to be unfair competition.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And do you believe Union would have a price advantage as a result of using existing assets, and if so, what do you believe would be the range of that price advantage?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  At this point, I'm not in a position to judge Union's rates.  What we're asking is that they -- what we're asking is that they be exposed to the risk of the investment and their capital has to be -- market has to be -- their capital has to be risked and priced accordingly.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Is Union's brand name an issue for 

you?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  No.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Now, the last of my questions are for Dr. Gaske, if we can turn to paragraph 46(c) of your affidavit.

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, I'm there.

MS. GRICE:  It says:

"This market is workably competitive.  For example, competition from the highly-competitive diesel fuel market, as well as existing and potential competition from alternative LNG fuel suppliers to the relevant geographic market, ensures that Union will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest..."

I just want to explore a little more with you what you mean by currently "workably competitive."  In your discussion with Mr. Keizer, you mentioned that it's brand new and growing rapidly.  We just want to understand what the timing would be to transition from that state to something that would be more readily defined as "workably 

competitive."

     DR. GASKE:  Well, it is workably competitive now.  There is a market; it's a small market, but it's a competitive market.  It's expected that, in all likelihood, it will grow.  

The concern here is whether or not Union will participate as a regulated entity in a competitive market, or whether they will be an unregulated entity in a competitive market.  

     MS. GRICE:  So would you say this, then, is the -- so is the issue unfair competition, then, as Northeast is suggesting?  

     DR. GASKE:  I'm not sure I would use the word "unfair," but yes, essentially that's the concept, that by mixing the essentially competitive facilities in with regulated rate base, there is a reduction in risk and they don't stand on the same ground as the other competitors who don't have a regulated rate base that they would roll it into.  

     MS. GRICE:  Those are our questions.  Thank you.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.  We will take our morning break until 11:15, and I would ask that the parties work out amongst themselves a schedule as to who will go next, and perhaps let Mr. Millar know.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:53 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:16 a.m.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubenstein, on behalf of SEC, I believe you're next.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RUBENSTEIN:
     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  I just have a few questions.


Dr. Gaske, I want you to assume for a minute that for any hypothetical service or product, there is no current market for it.  How would you determine if there would be a competitive market in a short or medium term?  Would it simply be using your "barrier to entry" test that you discussed earlier?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there any other methods that one would determine one could use?  

     DR. GASKE:  You might look at if there's an active market elsewhere in the same product, and whether there are people that might expand into that market and how many people there are.

But it would really depend on the circumstances.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, in discussing barriers to entry, my understanding from your evidence this morning is that you believe that there's a low barrier to entry; is that correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Reasonably low, yes.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One thing you didn't mention in your affidavit and in your discussions this morning was the cost as a barrier to entry.  My understanding is that for Northeast Midstream they're spending $130 million to construct a facility.

Is that a significant -- would cost be a significant barrier to entry?  

     DR. GASKE:  It could be, yes.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And why in this case would it not be?  

     DR. GASKE:  Well, you're actually seeing somebody step up and do it.  And in addition, there are smaller facilities that you can bring in that are -- that can be moved about, that the current market is actually being served from Montreal and Indianapolis, so the ability to provide LNG service in Toronto is not limited by -- at all by the number of LNG facilities actually in Ontario.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Samuel, my understanding is there was significant municipal and provincial approvals at Northeast Midstream required; am I correct?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  That's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Dr. Gaske, would such approvals, if they're significant, constitute a barrier to entry?

     DR. GASKE:  It's somewhat an empirical question, that there are a lot of different kinds of facilities that require a lot of approvals.  Just to build an apartment building requires a lot of approvals, but you see many people building them, so you conclude that it's not -- it doesn't prove that's a competitive market.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in your view, this specific case, the approvals one would need would not be a sufficient barrier to entry?  

     DR. GASKE:  I don't think so.  There are many other infrastructure facilities that require a lot of approvals, and they get built all the time.

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want -- my last question, I just want to understand from a worst-case scenario point of view, in that the Shell facility that was discussed earlier never ends up coming into being, Northeast Midstream's facility never actually ends up being built, and there are no new entrants into the market besides Union's proposed LNG facility, in that case would the market for LNG be competitive?  

     DR. GASKE:  What you just described would suggest to me that it's not an economic market and that trucking companies are not interested sufficiently to do it.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, one more question.  On page 17 of your affidavit -- you don't need to turn it up -- you talk about the public interest benefits of forbearance.  The Board must consider if there's sufficient competition to protect the public interest in its section 29 test.

I was wondering if you can tell me the public interest considerations you believe the Board needs to take into account?  

     DR. GASKE:  Well, the advantages of competition are several.  One is usually you have price competition to get lower prices for the same service, but you also have the ability to have varieties of services, different types of services.


So at the end of the day, competition produces both the best combination of quality and type of service with lower cost, and so the idea of promoting competition is where it's workable, which it is here, would be in the public interest.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.


Mr. Brett, I understand you're next?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRETT:
     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Thanks, Madam Chair and Panel.


Dr. Gaske, during your conversation with Mr. Keizer, I think you mentioned that the geographic market was Ontario, or 700 kilometres from Hagar in any direction.  Which was it?  Which of the two was it?  

     DR. GASKE:  The geographic market that I relied on was primarily the one that was actually provided in Union's call for expressions of interest.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  

     DR. GASKE:  And I have that in my -- attached to the end of my testimony, and what they drew was a 700-kilometre radius in which they thought that they might be able to sell fuel.  

     MR. BRETT:  That would rule out some parts of Ontario, you'd agree?  

     DR. GASKE:  I believe so.  I think maybe northern.  

     MR. BRETT:  Or subject to check?

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, subject to check.  One of the things I indicate in there is that a competitor doesn't have to actually be within the 700 kilometres, but it has to be close enough that it could serve at least portions of that 700-kilometre radius.  

     MR. BRETT:  Mr. Samuel, I've got a few questions for you.  They're pretty basic, mostly factual questions, just to make sure I'm very clear on what exists now in Ontario.


So my first question is:  What liquefaction facilities exist at the moment in Ontario, other than the two needle peaking facilities that the two utilities have?  Is there any at this stage that are actually liquefying gas for sale to truckers?

     MR. SAMUEL:  In the province of Ontario?  

     MR. BRETT:  In the province of Ontario. 

     MR. SAMUEL:  I'm only aware of one facility --


MR. BRETT:  And which is that?


MR. SAMUEL:  Which would be the Union Gas facility at Hagar, which liquefies for -- 

     MR. BRETT:  No, I didn't mean that, I'm sorry.

I meant that selling liquefied -- that's liquefying gas for sale to other than the utility itself.  I mean, I'm talking about facilities that are liquefying gas and selling that to truckers or some other industry.

Is there anybody doing that in Ontario?  I thought there was something called Roberts.

     MR. SAMUEL:  So I'm relying on information that's provided by Union Gas in its own application.  They actually identify three sources of LNG being dispensed.  One is in Cornwall, Ontario, one is in Mississauga, and one is in Woodstock, Ontario.  And that's information provided by Union Gas.  

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  Can you just tell me, do you know with the one in Mississauga, is that the one that's owned by Metro, Gaz Met Transportation Solutions?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  I'm not -- I can't speak with fact -- on the ownership of that facility.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  But do you know, of those three, are any of them for fleets?  In other words, on a transportation company's fleet log and specifically for that fleet?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  My understanding is the facility in Mississauga for Robert Transport is for the fleet that current -- there's about 125 trucks that travel the 401 on LNG every day.


MR. BRETT:  Right. 


MR. SAMUEL:  That LNG is procured and delivered from Montreal on a competitive basis.  So -- and then there's a facility in Cornwall and there's a facility in Woodstock.

     MR. BRETT:  So those facilities are dispensing facilities?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  They are.  

     MR. BRETT:  And the LNG for them comes from either Montreal or Indianapolis?

     MR. SAMUEL:  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  And do you know if the one that comes from Montreal, is it from Gaz Met Transportation Solutions, do you know?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  My understanding is that is the source of the LNG. 

     MR. BRETT:  Which is an affiliate company of Gaz Met?

     MR. SAMUEL:  That’s correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  And the amount coming from Indianapolis, do you know where that –- do you know the company that that's coming from?  Citizens Gas, or an affiliate of 

Citizens Gas?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  Yes, but I'm not in a position to -- those are commercial transactions between parties that I'm not related to.  

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, can you tell me -- you mentioned in your affidavit, and I believe Union 

mentioned in theirs as well, that the gas -- your liquefaction facility would liquefy gas for sale to truckers, and also for other uses, or potentially other uses.  What other uses are you contemplating?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  LNG is used in -- typically can be used in high horsepower applications.  Transportation, road transportation is one form of LNG use.  It can also be used in rail, in marine applications, as well as for power generation, and also in oil and gas and mining applications. 

     MR. BRETT:  So would your intention be, broadly speaking, to investigate and try to supply all of those markets ultimately?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  Yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  What about the sale of gas to remote communities, like mining communities?  You mentioned mines, but communities that don't have access to pipeline gas? 

     MR. SAMUEL:  The service of remote communities or off-system communities by LNG is something that is done in other jurisdictions, and could be done in Ontario, in our view -- 

     MR. BRETT:  And you think it may be economic, ultimately?

     MR. SAMUEL:  Yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  Do you think it might be economic to the point where it could be competitive to pipeline communities -- having to build a pipeline, I mean, to serve that community?

     MR. SAMUEL:  Depends on the length of the pipeline, and whether you're going through rock or sand.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Just another basic question.  Are there any refuelling stations in Ontario at the present time, public refuelling stations?  

You mentioned there were three dispensing facilities.  I guess those are fuelling stations, essentially, are they?

     MR. SAMUEL:  Yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  Are there any other fuelling stations that you're aware of?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  None that are operational.  

     MR. BRETT:  None that are operational?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  But I know there are -– there are that are planned.

MR. BRETT:  Are there any under construction? 

     MR. SAMUEL:  I don't know that information. 

     MR. BRETT:  Are you planning to build fuelling stations in Ontario?

     MR. SAMUEL:  We have no plans to build fuelling stations. 

     MR. BRETT:  Do you know anybody else who has plans at this stage?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  Yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  Are these utilities?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  These are -- these would be private entities that would be seeking to dispense LNG on a commercial basis.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Is there any government program in Ontario that you're aware of that would share the cost of building fuelling stations in Ontario?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  Not that I'm aware of.  

     MR. BRETT:  Do you have any knowledge of how the Quebec market works in liquefied natural gas, other than --  I guess we talked earlier about Gaz Met Transportation Solutions as being a supplier to the Quebec market.  

     MR. SAMUEL:  I'm not an expert in Quebec LNG markets. 

     MR. BRETT:  Nor are you, I guess, in British Columbia?  

     MR. SAMUEL:  That's correct.  I'm not an expert.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Let me move on, then.

Dr. Gaske, you've talked a bit about growth with other parties, growth in the market, and I don't think I'll belabour that.  I think that's probably been addressed.  

You do say in your first affidavit, Dr. Gaske, at paragraph 12, I believe, that -- and I'm going to paraphrase you, probably a bit badly, but you say the issue really isn't Union getting into this business of liquefying gas for third-party users.  The issue rather is Union doing this on a basis that is effectively underwritten by its ratepayers, and therefore creating an uneven competition; is that correct?  

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, it's the question of whether -- 

     MR. BRETT:  In other words, if Union were to enter this market either through an affiliate or through a division of the utility, but in circumstances where that division had to have separate books, separate accounting and the like, you would not be opposed to that; am I reading your testimony correctly?  So long as it was not being underwritten by the ratepayers?  

     DR. GASKE:  I would presume we wouldn't be here today, if that were the -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Sorry?

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, I would presume we wouldn't be here today, if that were the case.  

     MR. BRETT:  Well, we'd be here today on another front.  

DR. GASKE:  I understand.

MR. BRETT:  But when you say "underwritten by the ratepayers," I just want to make sure I understand what that means.  And I know this doesn't -- as I understand what you're saying, it's that what will happen is at 

a certain point in time -- and I don't expect – well, you know the utility business very well, Dr. Gaske.  

In 2019, when this current incentive ratemaking program that Union has is over, the assets that Union put in place for this liquefaction business supplying trucks will go into the Union rate base, regardless of how 

successful the liquefaction business is.

Is that sort of the sum -- is that the principle point?  They will become part of the Union rate base, and from then on, they will be paid for by Union ratepayers even if this business goes nowhere?  

     DR. GASKE:  Union has stated its intent to roll in the 

incremental facilities in 2019.  We don't know for a fact whether the Board will go along with it, and whether they will be successful or unsuccessful.  But they unequivocally stated that they intend to roll in the dispensing facilities.  

     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  And you talked, I think, a little in your affidavit about the precedent, if you will, of the Board's NGEIR Decision on storage, and I think -- would you agree with me, or do you recall that -- I think what the Board said in that case, and you may have said this in your affidavit, that the ex-franchise market for storage is competitive and therefore storage services to the ex-franchise market should not be regulated, but that the 

in-franchise market is not competitive and that storage services to the in-franchise market should continue to be regulated?  Is that sort of your recollection?

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, in this case, how do you differentiate -- how do you deal with the in-franchise or ex-franchise issue in your motion, or does it have any relevance to your motion?  

     DR. GASKE:  Well, with regard to -- there are two categories of facilities at issue.  One is the dispensing facilities for delivering LNG fuel, and those clearly ought to be unregulated and never enter rate base.  

The other facilities that are significant are the liquefaction facilities; those are used for system integrity purposes.  But Union clearly has determined that a lot of that capacity could be sold on the open 

market for LNG fuel.  

So I guess there's a distinction there.

MR. BRETT:  You're familiar in general, in broad terms, with the history of the CNG experience in Ontario?  

     DR. GASKE:  Very generally in Ontario.  A little better in the States, but yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  What -- and I think Union stated in the -- or in their material that they exited that business in 2002, I believe it was.  But I can remember many, many cases here where people discussed CNG.

And would you sort of agree with me that if I were to characterize that experience in Ontario as stalled -- in other words, it wouldn't be considered broadly a very successful experience -- would you concur with that?  

     DR. GASKE:  I know that Union discontinued it.  And I think all over it didn't pan out as well as a lot of people thought that it would.  I addressed the rosy outlook for CNG many times 20 years ago and it never happened.  

     MR. BRETT:  No.  It never happened. 

     DR. GASKE:  Except in small fleet operations, but it didn't carry over into the general population.  

     MR. BRETT:  Just give me a moment.  I just want to make sure I haven't missed anything here.


I think those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.


Ms. Blanchard, do you have any questions on behalf of CME?

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Sorry, there's no questions on behalf of CME.  Our questions have been captured by my colleague --

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  And Board Staff?

     MR. MILLAR:  Very briefly, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Thank you. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  Just a quick follow-up on a question by Mr. Brett.

One of the concerns identified by Northeast is the fear that Union's existing ratepayers will in some manner underwrite this new service, if I understood you correctly; is that right?

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I think there is some dispute from Union as to whether or not that will actually happen, but we'll review that with them.  But I just want to make sure I have Northeast's position clear.


Union's current proposal is to allocate all of the incremental costs to this new liquefaction rate.  You will recall there's something like $9 million in capital costs, there's some O&M costs, and as I understand Union's application, they would allocate all of that to this new rate.


So could I assume that Northeast would support at least this part of what Union is suggesting?  Whether there is a rate or not, those costs should be allocated to this new service?

     DR. GASKE:  Yes, and on a continuing basis. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Exactly.  To be clear, even if your motion is successful, obviously you wouldn't suggest that any of these new incremental costs be allocated to anyone other than the new liquefaction service?  

     DR. GASKE:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And as I understand Union's application, at least for the time being, they're not proposing to allocate any of the existing costs of the Hagar facility to this new rate class, and I'll go over that with them.


But what are Northeast's thoughts on that?  Is that where the fear of underwriting the risk comes from?

     DR. GASKE:  I think they are proposing to allocate some costs to it, although it's sort of a risk-free allocation at this point, because the facilities are already in the distribution rate base and in the rates.  They did design a rate off of the concept of allocating the costs, and -- but -- so they have -- they have no risk at this point in time regarding the liquefaction facilities.  


The cost allocation approach that they proposed is not based on, say, the needs -- or the costs of providing two different services.  It's really based on how much LNG fuel do they think they will be able to sell in the next three years, on average.

If they sell less than that, presumably in 2019 less cost would be allocated.  Or if the venture fails, no costs would be allocated to it.


So at least at this point, presumably, they have a risk-free use of the liquefaction facilities. 

     MR. MILLAR:  If the motion is successful, then there would have to be some sort of allocation exercise, I assume, or at least in Northeast's -- let me put as a question.

In Northeast's view, you would look to allocate some of the existing Hagar costs to -- out of existing rates; is that fair?  

     DR. GASKE:  I believe the Board would need to do that, but we're not taking a position on how to do it.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that was going to be my question.  You haven't looked at what existing costs and rates would have to be allocated out of rates if the motion is successful? 

     DR. GASKE:  No.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That would be a discussion for a different day, I guess.

     DR. GASKE:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Mr. Lederman, do you have any redirect?  

     MR. MILLAR:  I do not.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then we thank you, panel, for your evidence this morning, and you are excused.


Mr. Keizer, do you have your witness panel ready?

     MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we do.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Could you have them approach, please?


UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1


Sara Van Der Paelt, Affirmed


Greg Tetreault, Affirmed


Bill Fay, Affirmed

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, the witnesses before you are Ms. Sara Van Der Paelt -- and I will take them through their experience and affidavit -- and Mr. Greg Tetreault and Mr. Bill Fay.


And I believe that one thing that had not been entered into as an exhibit are the CVs of -- that we have -- we have, obviously, their affidavits, and they're identified within the affidavit.  I assume that for purposes of this process, and potentially the application as well, they will also be testifying during that time, so if you wish we could mark the CVs, and we do have them available if people -- 

     MS. LONG:  Yes.  Let's do that.  


MR. KEIZER:  That's fine?

     MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.1.  Madam Chair, this is a package of CVs for Union's witnesses.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  UNION WITNESS PANEL CVS.

     MR. KEIZER:  Now, included, I believe, in that package will be two other, I believe, that are not testifying today on the motion because they didn't file affidavits in that regard, but will be testifying in the application, so I believe they are included in the package anyway to mark, which is Mr. Pierce Jones and Mr. Jonathan Erling, who would appear at a later time with respect to the application.


So if I may, Madam Chair, I just have some areas of direct examination which will encompass the rudimentary aspects of introducing the witnesses.  I don't intend to take them through their affidavits.

But I will also, though, deal with one other matter, which I can get to you, which is a series of correspondence which we received from Mr. Thompson from CME asking various questions, and he asked that we would put those questions to the witnesses as part of our examination-in-chief for purposes of having them on the record in advance of CME's examination.

And so we're prepared to do that today, and I will facilitate the witnesses going through those letters.  And I think that we can probably have them marked at that time as an exhibit. 

I believe they are -- I'm not sure they were filed on RESS, but they certainly were provided to Union in advance.  And I can explain that at the time when we get to --

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Blanchard, do you have something to say?  I see you motioning there towards your microphone.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I was just going to add that they were filed on RESS, but we've also prepared a small compendium that includes both of the letters.  So those are with Board Staff.  


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  So we'll deal with those at that time.  I also have -- I believe there are a couple of corrections with respect to the record that I will deal with as well.

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. KEIZER:
MR. KEIZER:  Starting first with you, Ms. Van Der Paelt, you are currently the director, sales business markets, with Union Gas Limited?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I am. 

     MR. KEIZER:  And you have been with Union Gas for a number of years, I think dating back to 1991, and over that period of time, you have held various positions at Union Gas?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I have. 

     MR. KEIZER:  And you are the individual who signed the affidavit that is filed with part of Union's response to the motion?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I am.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Tetreault, you are manager, rates and pricing, with Union Gas Limited?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I am.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And you've held that position since 2008?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And since your time at Union Gas since 1998, you've held various positions with the organization?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And you also filed an affidavit in respect of this matter, and you are the person who signed and executed that affidavit?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I was.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Fay, you are -- you work for Union Gas Limited?  

     MR. FAY:  Yes, I work for the company.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And you are manager, underground storage?  

     MR. FAY:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And you also submitted an affidavit in respect of this proceeding?  

     MR. FAY:  Yes, I did.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And you are the person who executed and signed that affidavit?  

     MR. FAY:  Yes, I did.  

     MR. KEIZER:  For purposes of this proceeding, I thought because there may be elements of the examination that would go beyond the four corners of the affidavit, I was going to ask the witnesses to also attest to the validity of the information and affirm the information which they submitted in evidence and interrogatories at this 

time, just so that element is included within the testimony.

So the question I have for you is to the extent that you have to rely on it for purposes of giving testimony in respect of this motion, do you adopt as your evidence those exhibits and interrogatories that were filed by Union Gas Limited in respect of the application that was originally dated May 16, 2014?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we do.  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I do.  

     MR. FAY:  I do.  

     MR. KEIZER:  We now move to what I had mentioned earlier, which was a series of correspondence that was provided to Union Gas.  

The first letter was dated November 18, 2014.  And then a subsequent letter was sent to Union Gas from Mr. Peter Thompson on November 19, 2014, in respect of certain questions that CME had relating to these matters.

And the inquiry was to ask Union to provide responses, and it was agreed between counsel that we would provide our responses as part of a very short examination-in-chief, and I'm not sure whether you have that correspondence before you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I believe it's part of CME's 

compendium.  So maybe we can mark that, and I can bring you copies.  


So CME's compendium will be K1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  CME CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.
     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  

     MR. KEIZER:  I'm not actually sure, because I don't have the compendium in front of me, as to which tabs they are, but I think it's a very short compendium.  

I hear from the whispers in the back that it's 7 and 8.  

     MS. LONG:  7 and 8.  

     MR. KEIZER:  So I just want to make sure you have them 

before you.  

Maybe for expediency -- the letter of, particularly, November 18 is fairly lengthy, and obviously it has been marked and is on the record.  And I don't intend to have the witness -- and I believe Mr. Tetreault will address these issues -- read them on the record, but what I would ask is, dealing first with the November 18 letter, if Mr. Tetreault could address each of the lettered paragraphs (a) through (e) in turn, and obviously indicate the nature of the question and then provide the appropriate response.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Certainly.  In part (a), CME is requesting that Union provide an exhibit which shows the revenue requirement associated with existing Hagar LNG facilities on a fully allocated basis.  And then they go on to ask is this the revenue requirement of 5.098 million shown at line 27 of column A in an IR response to CME No. 5.  

So I can confirm that is the 2013 Board-approved Hagar revenue requirement, excluding compressor fuel.  I'm 

going to provide a few different exhibits as well, because this information can also be found in our prefiled evidence.  

The first place that figure can be found is in Exhibit A, tab 2, page 4, table I.  I don't believe there is any need to turn that up, but it is in our prefiled evidence. 

 The second place that can be found -- and I believe this is worth turning up for a second -- is in Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1.  And specifically, column A of this schedule lays out or summarizes the 2013 Board-approved Hagar costs.

And you can see at line 26 of column A, the figure of 5,098,000, the same figure we're referring to.  

I take everyone to this schedule because I need to clarify the 5.1 million relative to the costs we've used for cost allocation and for rate design.  And I should note that the figures we've used for cost allocation and rate design purposes, that figure can be found at column A, line 31.  You'll see a figure of 4.789 million.  That's the basis for our proposals.

The difference between those figures is the result of figures that are provided on lines 28 and 29 of column A, and, in essence, there are some costs that have been directly assigned to the system integrity function.  And those are gas and storage working capital and some variable O&M costs that are directly associated with providing system integrity.  

So I thought it was worthwhile to show the Board this 

exhibit, and just the slight differences between the Board- 

approved costs and the numbers used for purposes of cost 

allocation and rate design.  

In part (b), again trying to paraphrase the questions, CME is looking for an exhibit which shows the net annual liquefaction capacity of the existing facilities; or, said differently, they're looking for confirmation of a figure of roughly 1,059,000 GJs, as shown at the bottom of page 2 of the reply affidavit of Dr. Gaske.  

I cannot confirm that number.  The net liquefaction 

capability is actually slightly less than that amount.  I believe what is missing in the reply affidavit is the fact that on a planned basis, we assumed there would be roughly three weeks of maintenance per year at the Hagar facility.  So my calculation would suggest that the actual liquefaction capacity is just under 1 million GJs, approximately 992,000 GJs on an annual basis.  

Question (c) of CME's letter asks for the current 

forecast of LNG fuel sales from 2016 through to 2018, or, said differently, just a confirmation of the numbers provided for 2016 and 2018.


And I can confirm that our liquefaction forecast for 2016 is 152,640 GJs, and in 2018 610,560 GJs.  Again, those figures can also be found in our prefiled evidence; specifically, they are found at Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 5, line 9.


Moving on to question (d), I'll try to deal with both parts of this question together.  As I understand the question put to us, or the proposition, the proposition is that the pricing of LNG fuel services is not determined by the Board, and all incremental costs associated with Union's proposed expansion are classified as non-utility costs.  That's part Roman numeral (i).


And then the second part of it essentially deals with the manner in which ratepayers would be credited as a result of that additional use of Hagar through a revenue credit, as it's referred to here.  Specifically, CME references the Board's traditional practice of imputing a revenue credit for the benefit of ratepayers to prevent them from having to subsidize non-utility activities supported by utility assets.


What I can say with regard to Union's comments here is that we agree with the concept that should there be non-utility services that are provided for using utility assets, obviously the non-utility business should compensate the utility or pay for the use of utility assets.


However, we don't believe that a revenue credit is the way to do that.  In my view, the best way to accomplish that is through what I would refer to as a non-utility cross-charge.


Folks may be familiar with our utility storage business, and on the -- and the fact that on a short-term basis, we have utility storage space that is excess to utility needs.  We refer to that as our excess utility storage space; that is, storage that is sold on a short-term basis by the non-utility.


And there is a cross-charge or a cost to the non-utility associated with being able to utilize that short-term storage.


So in my view, a methodology similar to a cross-charge as we have on excess utility storage is the right way to compensate the utility, should, in this case, the non-utility be using what are regulated assets at the Hagar facility.


I should note as well, though, that that would have very little bearing on Union's proposed rate design.  So our rate design as proposed in this application is to have the L1 liquefaction service provide a contribution to the recovery of 2013 Board-approved costs at Hagar, specifically related to the assets it's using at Hagar, which are the liquefaction and storage assets at Hagar.


In addition, the liquefaction service is also providing a contribution to the recovery of distribution costs to move gas from point A on our system to the Hagar facility.


The second component of the rate design really deals with the incremental costs and the fact that any incremental capital or O&M costs are recovered directly in the liquefaction rate that Union has proposed.


But with regard to the contribution, should there be a determination that the service itself, the liquefaction service, is a non-utility service, the non-utility would need to pay for the use of utility assets, and they would do so on the same basis as we've proposed here, which is through a cross-charge that attempts to determine what level of contribution the new service should provide to the recovery of existing fixed costs at Hagar.


So I just note even with the concept of a cross-charge, our rate design today contemplates a contribution, and in my view that contribution wouldn't change regardless of whether liquefaction was deemed to be a non-utility activity or not.


Lastly, moving on to part (e) of CME's letter, and this is a lengthy question and preamble, but in essence what this question is asking is:  Does Union object to an approach that's been described in the preamble?  And the preamble contemplates a revenue credit to ratepayers under a non-utility scenario based on the non-utility's use of utility assets, and it contemplates that revenue calculation being calculated on the basis of the level of liquefaction activity that the new service requires as a proportion of the total liquefaction capacity at Hagar.


So I should put some numbers to that.

You'll see that in the preamble to part (e).  So specifically in 2018, CME's proposition is that because the sales forecast of LNG in 2018 is roughly 610,000 GJs of the roughly 1 million GJs of liquefaction capability at Hagar, that the new service should pay for -- the math works out to be approximately 58 percent of the Board-approved costs at Hagar.


This preamble also touches on the need or the appropriateness of a deferral account.  Maybe I'll leave that discussion for a minute and just tackle the revenue credit and the allocation of costs that are discussed here.


I would say that Union does object to this approach.  As I mentioned, I don't believe the appropriate way to compensate in this circumstance would be through a revenue credit, and in my view the appropriate way to do that is through a cross-charge, as we mentioned -- or as I mentioned earlier with regard to our excess utility storage space.  

Further, I don't believe it's appropriate that -- again using 2018 as an example -- that the new service should pay for 58 percent of the Board-approved costs at Hagar.  I believe that what the new service should pay for -- and this is what our contribution -- the contribution portion of the rate is based on -- what they should pay for is what they're using.


So for example, in -- CME is suggesting implicitly in this that the new service should pay for 58 percent of the costs at Hagar related to the storage function at Hagar, the function associated with storing gas in the tank that we have at Hagar.  And I can't agree with that approach.


The reality is that the Hagar tank holds roughly 650,000 GJs' worth of LNG when it's full.  At a maximum, the new liquefaction service is expected to only utilize 7,000 GJs of that space.  And we've designed our rate to recognize that the new service will only use that 1 percent of the storage space.


And we can see that -- I'll take everyone to the exhibit.  I think the best place to do this would be Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 6.  And for example, if we look at the -- I'll call it the middle section.  It's the storage space cost.

And you can see on line 10 that the Hagar storage revenue requirement is approximately $2.7 million.  2.687 is the number we have there.  And that is based on Union's proposed cost allocation methodology.


So as I mentioned, the proposition that CME has put to us is that the new service should pay for 58 percent, effectively, of that $2.7 million, despite the fact -- as noted on lines 13 and 14 of the same schedule -- that the space, storage space required by the liquefaction service is only the 1 percent, roughly 7,000 GJs of the entire storage space of 648,000 GJs.

So in my view, that's not appropriate.  


The new liquefaction service should pay for the assets that it utilizes in the proportion that it utilizes, based on their overall utilization.  

Likewise, there are vaporization assets at Hagar.  The liquefaction service that we've proposed will in no way use those vaporization assets.  So it is not appropriate, in my mind, that the new service would recover 58 percent of those costs as well.  

Finally, and perhaps in the interest of brevity, I will just touch on the appropriateness of a deferral account briefly.

In this case, CME suggests that the revenue credit -- and again, we've talked about that, I believe, a cross-charge is the appropriate mechanism under a non-utility.  

But in CME's preamble, they've said that the revenue credit in each of the years, based on LNG fuel sales forecasts for each of those years, can be trued up for actuals under the auspices of an appropriate deferral account.  

Union doesn't believe that a deferral account is appropriate in this circumstance as well.  Union is in the middle of a five-year IR term.  Union's IRM settlement agreement specifically contemplates the development of new services and new regulated rates.  And in fact, IRM encourages us to do that.  In other words, IRM encourages Union to look for productivity enhancements that are both on the revenue side and on the cost-efficiency side, if you will.  

And the development of a liquefaction rate is, in my mind, completely aligned with Union's IRM.  So in my view, there is no reason for a deferral account.

And that is also consistent with our last IRM term, which ran from 2008 through to 2012.  During that IR term, Union developed a number of services, specifically a Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL transportation service, in addition to other new services on the Dawn-Trafalgar system, to deal with the change in gas supply dynamics throughout North America.

And none of those services really needed, nor did they have, a deferral account.  

The revenue from those services, as they would with a liquefaction service, would be treated as utility revenue, which would form part of utility earnings and be subject to the earnings sharing mechanism that Union has throughout its five-year IR term, in a manner very similar, in my view, to the mechanism we had during our last five-year IR term.

And I think that closes my comments.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Tetreault.

So that, I think, puts on the record as requested -- I think the idea behind this was to facilitate the cross-examination to the extent that this is not going to be covered in cross, and that we would deal with it in putting the positions on as direct.  

And Mr. Thompson sent to Union on November 19 a further letter, and that letter contained two questions.

One is to:

"Please provide a copy of the undertakings between Union and its owner and the LGIC, the Lieutenant Governor in Council, containing current constraints, if any."

So we -– and I think actually there may be copies in the compendium.  But we also have available copies of those 

undertakings if we -- I guess to facilitate it for purposes of cross-examination by my friend, we're prepared to have those marked as an exhibit, and they would be Union's undertakings in respect of -- in relation to the Lieutenant Governor in Council.  

     MS. LONG:  Let's do that.  Are they already in the 

compendium?  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I believe they are.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Okay.  Thank you.

The second question Mr. Thompson asked is:

"Does Union need prior OEB approval to engage in non-utility business activities, and if so, then what criteria should the Board apply?  

And grant me this indulgence for a moment.  I was struck by this question in the fact that it's somewhat of a combination of a factual question and a legal question, and as to how to put this to the witnesses.

And I would –- first, I want to try to be as efficient as possible in terms of dealing with this today.  

My thought would be, in effect, to deal with the factual aspect, which is, in my view, the nature of the service first, and then to talk about Union's position in terms of the interpretation of the undertaking, which I can put in as a legal proposition and, if necessary, we can deal with in argument in a more fulsome vein as opposed to belabouring it now, when it's not the time for submissions.

The factual question, I think, is the fact that the 

undertakings really say:  Union shall not, except through affiliate or affiliates, carry out business activity other than transmission, distribution or the storage of gas, without the prior approval of the Board.

And I think that the factual question that I would like to put to the panel is in respect of the nature of the LNG service as it falls into the service of transmission, distribution or storage of gas.  

And maybe I can summarize the factual scenario and maybe have them confirm it.  And that is that it's my 

understanding that the liquefaction of gas is effectively 

conditioning of gas, not unlike conditioning of gas at various pressures when you deliver to certain customers.  The only difference here is that in respect of these customers, the gas is conditioned to the point of being liquid, and that it is, based upon your service, conveyed to the customers as you currently are applying for purposes of either a direct purchase or through system gas, as you would normally transfer the interest in gas; is that correct?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to the latter part of the question, in terms of the criteria and whether or not we would require approval, I think I would just state it succinctly and then we'll move on quickly, is that this application is not about doing it as a non-utility basis, but rather than doing it through the utility.

So to that extent, the approvals are under 36 with respect to an Order of the Board, and therefore not outside the undertaking.  


To the extent they would do this through a non-utility, then, in my view that's not the issue currently before the Board.

But we would have to assess as to the nature and scope of that application, which we haven't yet contemplated, or we haven't also contemplated the criteria which the Board would apply if it was going to grant us that right.  We haven't applied on that basis, and it's not the issue currently before the Board.  

So that, I believe, deals with Mr. Thompson's correspondence.  And if I can deal with two short, with your indulgence, administrative matters with respect to corrections of the record, then I will be done, I 

promise.  

One, I would ask Ms. Van Der Paelt whether or not she's aware of anything on the record that requires a correction.  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I am.  There is a correction 

required on Exhibit A, tab 1, page 20, at line 10.  So the 

first sentence under Roman numeral (i), we actually found it was incorrectly stated.  So we have restated the first sentence, which I would like to read into the record at this point.  

The new wording for the first sentence reads:

"The customer will be invoiced monthly for, (i), if a reduction request was made and approved, the greater of the reduced forecasted amount or 80 percent of their original forecast quantity, (ii), if no change was requested, the original forecast quantity, or (iii) if an increase was requested and approved, the original forecast quantity plus the approved increase."

     MR. KEIZER:  And we have, I believe, made available that page, but we will also file any complete copies of revised evidence.

And with respect to one other minor correction, I turn to Mr. Fay, that had a correction with respect to one of the interrogatory responses, I believe.

MR. FAY:  Yes.  BOMA IR No. 14, the number that was 

provided as the system integrity space required, as provided in EB-2011-0210, Exhibit D1, tab 9, it reads 9.7, and it should be 9.5.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

With that, Madam Chair, that is the completion of our examination.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

Mr. Lederman, do I understand you're going to start first with cross-examination of this panel?  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  I'm happy to.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LEDERMAN:
     MR. LEDERMAN:  I only have some questions for Mr. Tetreault, and they're brief.


If you look at paragraph 5 of your affidavit, Mr. Tetreault, you indicate that:

"Costs not recovered through Rate L1 will be managed by Union since this period is subject to a final rate order that will not permit (unless otherwise provided for through a deferral or variance account) the recovery of costs from existing ratepayers."


My question for you is:  What do you mean by these "costs not recovered through Rate L1 will be managed by Union"?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Specifically, that refers to the forecast of incremental costs.  So we have as an example a forecasted capital investment of $9.9 million.  If we were to have cost overruns on that capital investment, for example, we are not seeking any recovery of those costs.  We are not proposing to update that rate over the remainder of our IR term should the capital investment cost more than the $9.9 million.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Okay.  So what you're referring to there is any costs above and beyond the 9.9 million would be absorbed by Union?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  Mr. Tetreault, one more question on paragraph 5 here.  You talked about capital cost overruns for the 9.9 -- 

     MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I just want to clarify.  So who is asking the questions from Northeast?  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Oh, well, I -- it's David Lederman, counsel to Northeast, and I'm here with a consultant, as introduced earlier, Mr. Wolnik, who has a question.  

     MR. KEIZER:  That normally typically goes through the one examiner, through the counsel or otherwise.

     MS. LONG:  Is this just one question, Mr. Lederman, or is this going to be a series of questions that your consultant asks?

     MR. LEDERMAN:  This is just one question. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  So, Mr. Keizer, are you all right with the one question being asked by...

     MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. WOLNIK:  And Mr. Tetreault, it's really just a follow-up to this prior question here, just in terms of the costs being managed by Union.

Can you talk about what would happen in the event of either a shortfall in revenue forecast through that same time period and how those would be looked after?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Wolnik, which time frame do you mean?  Do you mean at rebasing?  

     MR. WOLNIK:  No, prior to rebasing.  I think that's the context of this, is it not?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  To the extent there were a revenue shortfall, I guess I would describe it this way.  The revenues and costs associated with the service are -- form part of utility earnings.  The revenue would be treated as utility revenue, and utility earnings during the course of Union's IR are subject to an earnings sharing mechanism with ratepayers over the remaining term.  So it's utility earnings, utility revenue, utility costs.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Those are all the questions from Northeast.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning.


MS. LONG:  Ms. Grice, do you have any -- or have you agreed to an order?

     MS. BLANCHARD:  We have.  So we've shuffled the deck.  

     MS. LONG:  All right.  Ms. Blanchard, you're next.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     MS. LONG:  I should tell you, Ms. Blanchard, just for planning purposes, we need to take a break at 12:45 today, and we will be breaking for one hour, so if you want to plan your cross accordingly.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I may need a few more minutes after the break, but I'll keep my eye on the clock.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. BLANCHARD:
     MS. BLANCHARD:  One of the difficulties is trying to ensure that the questions that also need to be asked on the application are not overlapping, so I'm going to do my best to manage that.  And if the Panel -- or if we think it needs to be deferred, we can talk about that, but I'm going to try to focus on the section 29 motion as a starting point.


I would like to start with a question for Ms. Van Der Paelt.  I would like to take you to your affidavit.  I'm in paragraph 3, and in the last line you say:

"... Hagar will have no material impact on the overall competitiveness of the LNG market."


So can I take it from that, Ms. Van Der Paelt, that you concur that this is a competitive market for LNG?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would say the transportation fuels market is competitive, and to the point LNG is part of that it is a competitive market.  LNG is in its infancy, so as a subset within that market there's not price transparency or discovery at this point, so it is still emerging and not fully competitive.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So it's emerging?  There will be a competitive market; is that accurate?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, we believe there will be, eventually.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  If I can just go into the response Union has provided, so I'm now on page 2 of the October 23rd response.  Union has listed a number of unique and specific circumstances, which explain why, notwithstanding the existence of an emerging competitive market, the Board should nevertheless provide a regulated rate.


So I'm here on page 2, paragraph 6.  And I think there's four reasons given by Union.  Are these the -- I'm going to take you through them, but these are the special and unique circumstances why a regulated rate should be provided, notwithstanding the existence of an emerging competitive market?  Would you agree?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I agree.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So your first -- the first unique circumstance is that the Hagar facility is also required for system integrity.  And so is that essentially -- does that go to the point that there's difficulties associated with allocating costs?  Is that why that's listed there?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It actually goes to the operation.  The Hagar is there as a system integrity asset first and foremost, so the service that we can provide as a liquefaction has to basically fill in the gaps and will be fully interruptible at the discretion of the utility, so we cannot offer firm or a high-quality service, because it is a system integrity asset first and foremost.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So in terms of the actual product that is going to be offered, the LNG, would you agree that it's the same product that Northeast will be offering?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The physical product LNG is the same.  I cannot speak as to whether the services Northeast is offering are the same, because ours is interruptible.  I'm not sure if they are offering a firm or -- a firm and an interruptible service. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So the substantial difference that Union is focused on is the interruptible nature of the service? 

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  The people who take LNG service from Hagar will be 100 percent interruptible at the sole discretion of the utility, so to the extent they are counting on it, they will have to come up with their own means and measures to back up that service.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So would you agree that A, B, and C, all of those circumstances, they all relate to the interruptible nature of the service?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  A and B directly relate to the interruptible nature.  C relates to the volume available.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And then number 7, there's another reason given, and that's drawing a distinction between the allocation of costs between a regulated and non-utility service offered in storage at NGEIR, and the 

and the distinction that Union is drawing here, would you agree it's more difficult to do the allocation in this case than it was in the NGEIR case?  Would you agree with that characterization?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I believe this is Mr. Tetreault's 

question.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I apologize.  Mr. Tetreault?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know that I would consider it to be more difficult than what we had to do at Dawn as a result of the NGEIR Decision.  

So what we had to do at Dawn was essentially an 

accounting separation.  We had to separate the utility 

requirements from what the non-utility requirements were.  And we did that on the basis of the fact that all the assets at Dawn could provide a firm service; they were firm assets.  And to me, that is one of the things that's different with Hagar.  

So I think an accounting separation, in theory, could be done.  But where it may not work in the same way as Dawn did is the fact that we don't have any firm assets available solely for the purpose of providing the liquefaction service.

All of the firm assets at Hagar are required for system integrity purposes.  It's only if we don't have a system integrity event that we're able to offer the liquefaction service on an interruptible basis.

So I would draw that key distinction between Hagar from an accounting standpoint, and what happened as a result of NGEIR at Dawn.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So are you suggesting that there's no -- there's no appropriate mechanism for allocating costs between the two services that could fill that gap?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, I'm not necessarily suggesting that.  I mean, it is a bit of a hypothetical.  But I will take you back to our rate design as well.  

Our rate design contemplates the new service providing a contribution to the recovery of existing costs at Hagar, specifically liquefaction and storage costs.  So there has been a cost allocation exercise amongst the functions at Hagar, that being liquefaction storage and vaporization, and clearly we have a proposal for Board approval of that cost allocation methodology. 

But I would say to separate Hagar itself between system integrity and the new service is -- I'm not quite 

sure how you would do that, given there are no firm assets 

available to provide the liquefaction service.  In theory, of course, you could do an accounting separation.  I'm not sure in practice how you would do that, when none of the assets are dedicated to providing the liquefaction service on a firm basis at Hagar.  

That's the key distinction, in my view, between what was done at Dawn and the Hagar facility itself.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I think -- and you'll correct me if I've got this wrong, but earlier in your testimony, when you were discussing the proposal for a deferral account, you indicated that that isn't required because this is under IRM; is that accurate?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So assuming for a moment that this isn't covered by IRM -- and I'm not asking you to agree with that proposition, but only to assume it for a moment -- would a deferral account type arrangement which begins with the forecast and does a true-up at the end of each year, would that address the uncertainty that you're raising in terms of usage year over year?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, I don't think so.  I don't understand the need for a deferral account in that scenario.  We've designed a rate to provide a contribution to the recovery of certain costs.  We have also ensured in our rate design that the new service picks up or pays for all of the incremental costs, both capital and O&M, associated with providing the service. 

I'm not sure, in that circumstance, what a deferral account would actually accomplish.  You asked me to assume it wasn't IRM, so I can -– what I can assume, then, is it's rebasing and it's a cost of service type year.  And to the extent a cost of service -- at a rebasing proceeding, we have a revenue deficiency associated with the new service, if I can describe it that way, the Board has some means to deal with the fact there's a revenue deficiency, if that were to happen.  

One, the Board could impute volume, which imputes revenue.  Or the other is that the Board could in theory disallow costs as not being prudently incurred.

So the Board has some tools in either of those circumstances, and I'm not sure what a deferral account would necessarily accomplish that those mechanisms wouldn't accomplish.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I think what I was getting at was -- I 

understood you to say that one of the reasons why I'm going to read here that Union's in-franchise and ex-franchise requirements were easier to determine and ultimately separate in NGEIR was that there wasn't this overriding uncertainty as to how much system integrity capacity was going to be required year to year.  

Is that an accurate description of the issue, of why it's more complicated here?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, I think Dawn was very different, that exercise.  We knew what our utility requirements were, what the in-franchise requirements were.  We also knew there were ex-franchise requirements, all facilitated with firm assets, firm services.  

The Board in NGEIR reserved up to 100 PJs of storage space for future in-franchise growth.  I see Hagar being very different from the standpoint that on a firm basis, the only function Hagar can provide is a system integrity function.  As I mentioned, we can't offer this liquefaction service on anything other than an interruptible basis.

So I'm not sure that it would make sense necessarily to have an accounting separation akin to what was done at Dawn after -- as a result of the NGEIR Decision, for Hagar.  

As I mentioned earlier, we have a -- our proposed rate for this service does contemplate the new service providing a contribution to the recovery of costs at Hagar, for the assets it is using on an interruptible basis.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Can I just interrupt for a minute, Mr. Tetreault?  I'm having some trouble understanding the concept of firm and interruptible in this particular scenario, because, as I understand it, when you liquefy the gas, it becomes liquid and you store it in your storage tank.  So you don't have to liquefy it the same day.  I take it that someone comes and trucks –- and then people will come and take it away, right?  They’ll put in a tanker truck and take it somewhere else?  That's the plan?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  That's a good summary.  

     MS. SPOEL:  So you don't have to liquefy it on the same day that someone shows up with a truck to pick it up.

And in fact, there might be a snowstorm.  This is outside Sudbury; the roads could be closed for weeks –- not weeks, days.  So it's not necessarily -- the removal of the liquefied product doesn't have to happen the same day the liquefaction function happens? 

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's absolutely correct.  

     MS. SPOEL:  So your only constraint really is how big your storage tank is, because if you had a bigger storage tank, you could offer as -– let's call it a regular service, if you want, instead of a firm service.  You could offer it every day if you had more storage; would you not be able to?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I think if you had more storage space and you had liquefaction capability -- I think that may be the key variable.  You'd have to have enough liquefaction capacity to ensure that you could provide a firm liquefaction service consistent with the interruptible service we're providing here, or proposing here.  

And the key is also -- what really matters is that we would have to make sure if the tank were emptied as a result of the system integrity event, if the tank is planned to be refilled for future system integrity events, it is key that the tank is full itself should there be a system integrity event, so that we vaporize the correct amount of gas from the tank as needed in the distribution system.  

     MS. SPOEL:  I understand that, but it's a rolling thing.  You liquefy, you fill the tank.  Some of it goes out.  You keep a certain amount in reserve in case you need it for system integrity, and anything –- you know, it's a 

rolling kind of thing.

But most of the time -- you could have time delays.  You don't have to provide the liquefied product the same -- to a customer the same day you liquefy?  There can be a time lag, given the ability to store it in liquid state?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  That's why we've allocated 7 GJs of storage space in the tank for this new service, for exactly that reason.  

     MS. SPOEL:  But at 600 GJs per year, that means you assume you're going to turn over your inventory every three or four days.  Because 7,000 isn't very much storage for -- if you're producing 610,000.

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Maybe I can interject here on the service design.  That's correct.  The assumption is the gas will be delivered on the days that we liquefy.  So the customer will deliver the gas at the NDA or Hagar, and we will liquefy on those days and it will be within a day or two of when their pick-up is. 

     MS. SPOEL:  And what if there's a snowstorm and they can't get there to pick it up?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's where the 7,000 GJs come into play, to hold that gas for a short period of time until they can come and get it.

     MS. SPOEL:  So you're doing it just in time liquefaction -- or the concept is a just in time liquefaction, you know, pick up -- everything is going to run smoothly and you're going to get your stuff in and out on a kind of a same-day basis?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  That's because we did not infringe on the system integrity space that was required for the utility.


There's also two other points where we can't liquefy.  So Greg -- or Mr. Tetreault mentioned that when we are liquefying to fill the tank, but when we do have a system integrity event and need to vaporize to put gas into the pipelines for the system integrity issue, you cannot liquefy at that point in time either.  We can only run one operation or the other.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Right.  No, I understand that.  I'm just trying to understand the sort of the -- how the throughput would work, and how often do you have to vaporize for a system integrity event at Hagar.  Like, this year, how often have you had to?

     MR. FAY:  Twice in the winter of 2013/'14.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Thanks.

Sorry, Ms. Blanchard.  Sorry to interrupt your cross-examination.

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Not at all.  Thank you.


Mr. Tetreault, I think one of the points that you made in evidence is that the cost allocation methodology that's being proposed is completely consistent with the IRM.  If the Board were -- or would you agree that that's right?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know that I said that, actually.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  All right.  I must have written it down incorrectly, but I think you were telling us that what's being proposed is consistent with the IRM?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, the concept of developing a new service to generate utility revenue during IRM is contemplated in the incentive ratemaking mechanism.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  If Northeast's motion is successful and there's a determination that this is not a regulated service, is it your view that it's still consistent with the IRM?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  If there was a determination that the service is non-utility, I think it falls outside the ambit of IRM itself.  I believe so, anyways.  The reason I'm pausing is simply because of the non-utility cross-charge concept.  I think that may be where there's a tie-back to IRM.

And what I mean by that is if it's deemed to be a non-utility service, the non-utility business will need to pay for the use of utility assets at Hagar.  And the way we've traditionally done that has been through a non-utility cross-charge.  Effectively, the non-utility pays the utility for the use of the assets.


So I paused on the IRM -- your IRM proposition, because the cross-charge itself from the non-utility to the utility would be considered utility revenue, and it would be part of utility earnings during IRM and therefore subject to the earnings sharing mechanism we have in place over IRM as well.


So the service itself could be non-utility, but aspects of the revenues or costs should or could still be considered part of utility earnings.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Now, there was some discussion about the undertakings that were asked about by my colleague Mr. Thompson in his letter of November 19th.  We've included the Orders in Council in our compendium, but I understand they have also been circulated, so I'm going to assume that you have them in front of you.  

     MS. LONG:  We do.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So I believe my colleague Mr. Keizer took you to paragraph 2.1 of the original undertaking from Union Gas, which is found at tab 1 of CME's compendium at page -- it's page 21 at the top, but that's just because this is reproduced from a previous decision.


And so section 2.1 provides that:

"Except through an affiliate or affiliates, Union shall not carry on any business activity other than transmission, distribution or storage of gas."


And we did have some discussion on that.  I'm going to ask you now to turn to tab 2, which is the first amendment to the undertaking which was provided by the Minister.  And if you turn --

     MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I don't mean to interrupt.  Unfortunately, I gave my compendium copy to the witness, and I don't have it in front of me.  I'm just wondering if someone else --

     MS. LONG:  I think Board Staff can probably loan you a copy.  


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I apologize.  I thought I had enough, but I didn't.  


So at page 2, which is three pages in at tab 2, this is the first amendment to that original undertaking.  And if you scan down the page at paragraph (a), this is the first exception that was provided to that restriction on other business activities that was applicable to Union.


So an exception was required in order to provide services related to the generation of electricity by means of large, stationary fuel cells integrated with energy recovered from natural gas transmission and distribution pipelines.


I guess, first of all, would you agree that this relates -- would relate to a form, I guess, of -- well, it's using gas from a distribution pipeline.  And I think your answer to Mr. Keizer's question was that the LNG service is simply a conditioning of gas; was that accurate?  Is that what I wrote down?  Maybe you can...

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So would another way to be -- another way to describe that be just another use of the gas?  I mean, it's being used -- the end user is going to be the transportation industry.  I guess I'm wondering whether you see any parallels between this use of the gas -- so the large stationary fuel cells -- and the energy recovery from natural gas transmission and distribution pipelines?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So I don't see any parallels.  When we're making the gas into a liquefied form, we're actually changing just the consistency of the product.  We're not telling an end-user how to use it or in what application it's being used.

I'm not clear exactly on what this exception is in the reference, but it is the generation of electricity, is the start of it, so that would be completely different -– an actual process in terms of the use, whereas we're just dealing with changing the form in which the product sits.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I'm looking at the time, Madam Chair, and I think I've gone over my time, and I apologize.  I won't have more than one or two questions after the break.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  That's fine.  We'll reconvene at 10 to 2:00, and, Ms. Blanchard, you can continue your cross then.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  

--- Luncheon recess taken 12:49 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:50 p.m. 

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Blanchard, are you ready to resume?  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I am.  Thank you.


So before the break I was asking some questions about Union's undertakings, and I'm going to just ask one last question on that front.  And I'll ask you to turn to tab 3 of our compendium.


And if you turn the page, would you agree with me that this is another exception that was granted by the Minister to the original 1999 undertaking in order to allow Union to pursue the activities which are listed in paragraphs (a) through (e) in that Minister's directive?  

     MR. KEIZER:  I'm not sure that these witnesses are well placed to be able to kind of reach that conclusion.  I think it's something of an interpretive issue I think that we can deal with from a legal perspective, as opposed to a factual perspective.

If there's a factual question, maybe that would be more helpful, but...

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Blanchard, did you have a different question that you wanted to put to the witnesses?  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I'm prepared to deal with it in argument, so I'll just move on.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So before the break I think we heard from you, Mr. Tetreault, that to the extent that the Board finds that this new LNG service is not a utility service, that there would still be some work to do in terms of determining how the utility side of the business would be compensated for the use of the regulated asset by the non-utility service; is that accurate?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, I don't think I necessarily said that there would be work to do.  Perhaps I did.

What I meant to say -- perhaps I misspoke -- was that the portion of our existing rate design, our proposed rate design, that is intended to ensure the new service provides a recovery or a contribution towards a recovery of fixed costs, that rate design is valid, or as valid with our proposed liquefaction service as it would be if the service was deemed to be non-utility.

My rate design would stand on its own as it's been proposed, whether it's a utility service or the non-utility service where there's a cross-charge.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Would you agree that the rate design study that was prepared in connection with that -- it's contained in your prefiled evidence at tab A.  It's the KPMG report.  I'm just going to speak to it generally, but it's -- there it is, yeah.

If you just turn to page 1 of that report, and you see the paragraph (a), "Background," would you agree with me that this report was prepared with a view to supporting the development of an interruptible liquefaction rate?  So it was a pricing exercise?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.  This work that KPMG undertook was a cost allocation effort to determine how to functionalize Hagar costs between the three functions -- liquefaction, storage, and vaporization -- for the purposes of assisting us with rate design.  That's correct.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  And was any functionalization of the Hagar facility undertaken in connection with the 2003 IRM proceeding?

     MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not sure what you're referring to with regard to a 2003 IRM.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  When you did the cost allocation exercise and you ultimately received what's described in your charts as the 2013 Board-approved rate for Hagar, was there a functionalization done at that time?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, there was no functionalization done as part of our 2013 rate case.  Prior to developing the service there was no need to do so, because all of Hagar, being for its primary purpose a system integrity, the costs are all allocated in the same manner to Union North ratepayers.

So there has been no need to do so prior to the development of this service and the proposed rate.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  There's some mention in the prefiled evidence of similar LNG services that are offered by Fortis in BC, and also by -- and also by GMI.

When did those services first come to the attention of Union?  When did Union first learn about those other services?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I believe we became first aware of them in 2012.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  And when did Union first begin initial planning for the LNG facility at Hagar?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We started talking about the potential service, I believe it was fall of '13.  And then we talked to our executive later in that year to see if they would support going forward with an application, which at that time they did, and asked us to also do an expression of interest with the market, and that was done in early '14.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So there was no discussion at all of an LNG facility before fall of 2013?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No discussion of an LNG service --

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Yeah, I --

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I think I've got maybe one more question here.


In tab 9 of CME's compendium, there is a presentation that was made by Rick Birmingham.  Could you tell me who he is?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Rick Birmingham is the vice-president of regulatory lands and public affairs, as stated on the cover.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  And at the second page of that presentation, Mr. Birmingham appears to have been discussing slow to no growth in the distribution volumes; is that accurate?  

     MR. KEIZER:  All the witness can do is actually look at the chart and reach her own or their own conclusions.  I don't -- sure what Mr. Birmingham said at the time he made the presentation.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, I'll just -- I'll take you to page 3 now, and you can see that there's three options that were proposed by Mr. Birmingham, one, two, three.

The first one is rate design, and it's crossed off.  The second one is the rate regulation framework, and it's crossed off.  And there's a checkmark through "Business diversification."

My question for the panel is:  Would you consider the LNG service that's being proposed at Hagar business diversification?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Well, I wasn't part of this presentation, so I'm not sure if business diversification -- Mr. Birmingham was looking at regulated services or non-regulated services.

What we look at Hagar is, is a way of optimizing existing assets to the benefit of shareholders and ratepayers.  Business diversification, to me, is a bit broader than that, but Hagar, we're looking as a standalone opportunity.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Blanchard.


Mr. -- oh, okay.  The order has changed again?  Mr. Rubenstein, are you going next?  Or is Ms. Grice and Dr. Higgin going?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY DR. HIGGIN:
     DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I have a few questions in follow-up for Union.  And just to preface these, I'm trying to stay in the territory of the motion, as opposed to getting into some aspects of the application.  So I'll try to, as best I can, keep the focus there.


So I would like to look at your response to the motion, and I specifically start with page 2, paragraph 4.  

Thank you.  

So my first question:  Just to follow up again, what would be, in Union's view, the conditions under which 

the LNG transportation market -- that's all uses -- would be competitive or workably competitive?

And please provide some summary of your analysis of that.  You say 'will be," and I am looking for what is the basis of that statement, and the analysis.  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  "Will be competitive" is our belief that this market is growing.

And in terms of what we define as competitive, I would say price transparency and discoverability; to me, a key aspect of a competitive market.  

Secondly, that you have enough supply and demand that you have a balance, so that there is sufficient demand to warrant the development and more supply, and then sufficient supply to meet that demand.  And you see that going back and forth.  

At this point in time, what we see is there is constraints on both the supply and the demand, and no price transparency.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

What about the other two criteria that we've been talking about, the geographic aspect of the supply market, and secondly, what about the number of market entrants?  

Those things have been discussed by Dr. Gaske and 

others.  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So the geographic area, it becomes an economic decision as to how far you can transport LNG 

economically to an end-use location.  

In the current market, where there is a lack of supply and there is some demand and the economics make sense, you can transport farther than when you get a more robust market, because there is likely to be someone closer than you are to transport it to that market location.  

So geography will come into play as you get more supply and demand in the market.  

The second point -- sorry?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Market entrants.  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Market entrants.  Market entrants, I think, speaks to a more robust supply and demand dynamic, more people who are looking for LNG from a demand source.  So you should see an increase in terms of the number of people who are entering the market.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

Could I now just go down to page 3 of the same document, and to paragraph 6C?  And I'm going to just pick it up at page 3.  It's the same paragraph, and at the beginning it starts:

"Rather, Hagar is intending to support pilot projects and demonstrations that will help start a more robust, competitive market.”

So picking that up -- and you also cover that 

in your affidavit as well, Ms. Van Der Paelt.  So the question is then:  What are the key differences between a pilot and/or demonstration project and a rate-regulated LNG service?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So the term "pilot" and "demonstration" was from the customer's view, so the customer is piloting equipment.  It wasn't from the view that Union needed to pilot the sale of LNG.  

So we need a rate order which -- to enable LNG to be available to customers who want to try LNG to prove out their economics and prove out their own business cases.

Hagar has a very small amount of LNG available, which makes it a perfect subject in order to support pilot projects.  

I'm thinking of one of the first interrogatory 

responses I had for Board Staff; I indicated Hagar could serve, you know, at most, 200 trucks, or three ships, or -- and I think there's another thing in there.  Those are pilots.  

There was a comment made earlier about Roberts Trucking.  They have 125 trucks.

So Hagar could not support multiple fleets, but it could help a fleet driver who wants to try three or four trucks, to see how the fuel works, to get comfortable with the equipment, and then with them trying that, increase the

demand for LNG, which will bring new players to the market, who will then build new facilities to support that demand.  

DR. HIGGIN:  So your response is that a demonstration project is the economic viability of LNG for the 

transportation market and the players in the transportation market, not for the suppliers?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

Let's go to Union's objectives, and say:  What is Union's business plan for LNG and the overall goal of this project?  Where will it lead?  Is it a commercial project, or is there an overall business plan?

We haven't seen a business plan yet for the LNG market for Union Gas or its affiliates.  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Our business plans today are to support pilot projects, and we see this as a developing market.  

As an example, in the marine market, in order to convert a ship, it takes several years and a lot of money.  But we know from our discussions with marine operators that they will want to pilot that ship for two years.  These aren't pilots that last a month or week.

These companies are making big investments into equipment, and they want to actually prove out their business cases for longer periods of time.  

Our hope is that you get that shipping company moving and they move on to someone else as a supplier, and then we can pilot with another shipper on the Great Lakes.  And then we can see continually developing that market because of Hagar’s size, to maybe help a mining company, or helping a trucking company.

But we can only physically do very few, and so it will be a gradual transition.  And when you get on to the –- well, I'll say commercially viable from the customer’s view, they move off to another supplier, like a Northeast Midstream, and Hagar continues with other pilot projects.

But Hagar is physically too small to support them long-term.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  So you are in essence positioning Hagar as a kind of demonstration project or series of projects, and that's your business plan?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Hagar's position as a supplier to help customers demonstrate their projects.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  One question I had –- and if you know the answer, it would be helpful, or point me to it in the evidence -- and that is with respect to your affiliate or – sorry, your counter Quebec utility.  

The question is:  For Gaz Metro, have they structured their LNG as utility business or as a non-utility business?  Do you know the answer to that?  And if so, can you tell us?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I know at a high level.  The actual sale of LNG is through their unregulated affiliate, GMTS, and then the unregulated affiliate has to pay through a charge-back.  That's the mechanism.  I'm not sure exactly how they comp -- but they have to compensate the utility for the assets they're using, because it is also winter peaking facility they are using to produce the LN. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  So in essence, it's a non-utility business, but with some of the costs being recovered by the utility, the assets and other OM&A costs.  So it is really in essence separated business; is that what you would say?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I'm not sure of the -- I know separated has different terms in our regulatory environment.  But I understand them to be two distinct businesses, and there is compensation from the unregulated utility back to the regulated utility in some form.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Just as a follow-up, do you know if LNG -– whatever it is for Gaz Metro -- is an affiliate, as in the terms of the definition we use here in Ontario for an affiliate of the utility?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I don't know that.  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my 

questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Rubenstein, are you next?

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RUBENSTEIN:
     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I am, thank you very much.  I only have a few questions.  

Panel, I want to go back and discuss with you the 

risks that ratepayers may or may -- and the benefits of ratepayers have with respect to this application.  

Am I correct -- and I'll point you to the reference for this.  This is A1, page 1, at the bottom.

Am I correct that under your proposal, during the IRM term, the revenue which you forecast to be approximately $2.9 million per year will contribute to regulatory earnings subject to sharing?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I believe, based on our revised evidence, it's roughly on average $2 million a year of revenue.  

But yes, it is, as proposed, utility revenue subject to utility earnings sharing.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And by utility earnings subject to sharing, by that you mean it would be included in the annual operating revenue?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Utility revenue, that's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would I also be correct that incremental costs associated with the incremental facilities and the incremental OM&A would also flow to the earnings sharing calculation, and would be included in the regulatory expenses category?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there will be some level of offset with the revenues and the expenses?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  There will be both utility revenues and costs associated with the provision of the new liquefaction service.  Correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you know, based on the projected volumes that you're forecasting, what the difference would be between those revenues and the costs which would ultimately be included in the expenses?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I'm considering the best way to respond to that.  I think it's difficult to say, Mr. Rubenstein, but perhaps this is the best way to respond.

In our rate design, the proposed rate is making a contribution to the recovery of existing costs.  So -- which is another way of saying just because those costs are already fully allocated and recovered from ratepayers doesn't mean a new service somehow doesn't have to pay for that.


And I believe the revenue associated with the portion of the rate that is a contribution is on average roughly 6- to $700,000 per year.


So this may not perfectly answer your question, but I would consider that to be revenue above cost in this context, because it is providing a contribution to the recovery of what are existing costs. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we use that as a rough proxy --


MR. TETREAULT:  It's a proxy.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- roughly 600,000 more would be in the -- ultimately the utility's earnings?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.  Based on the forecast and based on the rate design we've proposed here.  Again, I would caution it's a proxy.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize that.  Thank you very much.


There was a lot of discussion this morning about the competitive nature of the market.  Is it -- does Union believe that it would have market power in the sale of LNG if its application is granted?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Could you define what you mean by "market power"?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let me leave it -- I leave it undefined in this sense:  Has Union done any analysis or have any evidence or belief that, based on how the -- based on any definition of market power, that it would have any, or do you just not know?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I don't believe -- so based on the size of Hagar and what's available, I don't believe we would have market power.  So we only have the ability to serve a very small amount, and to have market power I think you have to have the ability to serve a large demand.  What we would be providing, though, is some price transparency.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that Union does not have visibility for the end-use of the LNG that it dispenses from its Hagar facility?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to ask about -- just clarify some comments that were made during the examination-in-chief.

I want to understand, if the motion is granted, where would the -- there was a discussion about the cross-charge that would essentially -- that essentially charge for the utility assets that would be utilized for a non-utility purpose.


And am I correct that that would show up in the ESM calculation?  It would not show up in any other deferral or variance account that currently exists?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  I can't think of any deferral or variance account it would manifest itself in.  It would be treated as utility revenue.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is the revenue that will be included in the earnings that this is part of the cross-sharing, will that be based on what the actual volumes that ultimately are sold by the unregulated entity, or will it be the projection of volumes that you're forecasting in this application?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I would suggest that -- maybe a two-part answer.  The rate that we would charge in that hypothetical would be based on forecast volumes as filed in this application.  But I would suggest that the revenue itself would be taking into consideration that rate if it's approved and the actual volumes that were liquefied, for any period of time.  Rates always being based on forecast volumes, but then the actual revenue generated would be based on actual liquefaction activity.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

So if the volumes were less than you had expected, the actual char -- the amount of revenue that would be credited to the utility would be less than the forecast?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct, and that would be symmetrical as well, if volumes were higher than forecast.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the last thing I wanted to discuss with you, there was a discussion this morning about one of the differences between this application and the features of your L1 rate versus someone else's LNG rate that it may charge, and that was that it's interruptible.


Would you agree with me that there's a spectrum of interruptibility, determining -- based on the frequency or the duration of an interruptibility?

One may be -- give -- on one end of the spectrum there is -- it's essentially firm, but allows the utility the right to interrupt, versus one in practice, where there may be interruptions quite frequently?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Interruptions by nature aren't predictable, so yes.  There's a spectrum.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree with me that those who contract with Union for LNG service, knowing that it is interruptible, would believe that it's regular enough for their needs?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The customers that we've spoken to about the nature of it being interruptible, it meets their needs for what are called small pilot projects.  We have not heard back from them that it would be sufficient for a wholesale conversion of fleet.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you asked?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  They've asked a lot of questions around what -- why we would interrupt, if they would have any discretion around the interruption.  and we have said no, that it is all at Union's discretion as to whether it's interrupted, and that's how the contract is written.

So when -- pardon me -- the lawyers get together, the fact is that is their exposure.  So -- and that's what they base their risk on commercially.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Mr. Brett?



CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRETT:
     MR. BRETT:  Yes, thank you very much.


Panel, you were talking a moment ago about this project being a demonstration project.  Are you able to say at this point categorically that Union would not build additional liquefaction facilities at Hagar?  In other words, you would not seek to build a full-scale commercial plant in the future?  Is your role only to be a demonstration project provider?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We have no plans to expand Hagar or build any additional facilities there beyond what we filed here. 

     MR. BRETT:  And that would include greenfield facilities other than Hagar as well?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Greenfield facilities we have not ruled out.  We have only sort of cursory looked at them, but we do not believe greenfield facilities would be regulated.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, I just wanted to check something, Mr. Tetreault.  I discussed -- we asked about this in BOMA 8, although we didn't ask quite this question, but it's around the issue of risk, and I asked Dr. Gaske this morning about this.


Am I right -- and just very simply, am I right in saying that when you get to rebasing, when we get to rebasing in 2019 or whenever that is, the capital costs that you are proposing to incur in this proceeding, in this proposal, will be -- become a part of rate base at that time?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That is correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  That's correct?  And between now and that time there will be what, construction work in progress?  I mean, you will -- you will -- let me try and break it down a bit.  I just want to really get at the practical aspect here.


You will pay for those costs as you are -- you will pay the costs as you build.

      MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  And you will incur -- you will finance those.  You will incur interest charges of some sort, I suppose.  But it's -- is that effectively equivalent to construction work in progress?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I think there is an element, Mr. Brett, of construction work in progress from the moment we put shovels in the ground, if you will, to the --


MR. BRETT:  Right. 


MR. TETREAULT:  -- facilities being in service.  That said, though, when the assets are in service, they will be included in rate base.  

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Now, where that matters, though, from a ratemaking standpoint is, to your earlier point, when Union looks to rebase and cost of service for 2019.  

     MR. BRETT:  Now, just recall for me.  Will the interest that you incur -- there's interest normally attached to construction work in progress, right?  There is an allowed rate of interest, I believe, by the Board?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I believe so.  You may be moving beyond my expertise, but that's my understanding.  

     MR. BRETT:  And would that interest be capitalized and put into rate base as well?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not sure, Mr. Brett.  Again, it may be beyond my expertise.  I believe that's the practice, but I can't say with certainty.  

     MR. BRETT:  Will there be somebody on the next panel that would know that?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, this is the only panel.  

     MR. BRETT:  No, but I mean when you actually bring your application.

     MR. KEIZER:  I don't believe we have an accountant, so to speak.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I wonder if you could just confirm that by undertaking, then.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I can do so.  

     MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J1.1.  And Mr. Brett, could you repeat what you want them to do?  

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO CONFIRM THE LEVEL OF INTEREST PAYABLE ON CONSTRUCTION WORK IN PROGRESS, OR EQUIVALENT, PRIOR TO INCLUSION OF ASSETS IN RATE BASE, AND TO CONFIRM IT IS CAPITALIZED AND PUT INTO RATE BASE AT THE SAME TIME AS THE UNDERLYING ASSET.

     MR. BRETT:  Just to determine, or to confirm that the interest that's payable on the construction work in progress, or its equivalent, prior to the inclusion of the assets in rate base is —- A, what level is it, and B, confirm that it is capitalized and put into rate base at the same time as the underlying asset.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Brett, just for my clarity, you're speaking specifically about IDC, or interest during construction; is that correct?

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, right.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  As I said, I believe the answer is yes, but I will undertake to confirm that.  

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could I ask you to turn up BOMA 25, please?  This is sort of going back to –- well, I think Mr. Rubenstein was hinting at this a moment ago.  

But if you look at BOMA 25, we ask the number of times and the extent to which you had to regasify.  In other words, you had to use your system to maintain system integrity, and to what extent.  

I asked for ten years, and you said there's only data for five years.  That's sort of odd in a way.  Why isn't there data going back further?  Do you know?  

     MR. FAY:  I can't answer that.  

     MR. BRETT:  Did you not collect this kind of information? 

     MR. FAY:  No, it was a Union facility back ten years.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  But that's the case, in any event.

Now, these numbers last winter, you mentioned, Mr. Fay, that there were two times last year, and these total -- the 14th of December and the 2nd of January, those were last winter, which was an extraordinary cold winter; correct?  

     MR. FAY:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  Would you turn up, at the same time, Energy Probe 10, please?

What I'm trying to get a picture of here is the 

relative orders of magnitude of how much of these GJs you use if you get an event.  Now, bearing in mind that last winter was a vicious winter, you used a total of 56,000 -- you vaporized 56,000, give or take, GJs; correct?  

     MR. FAY:  Correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  And the total, if I look over -- I just want to make sure I understand what this EP, Energy Probe 10 shows us. 

If you look at the LNG available each year, that's the first column, so we go down starting up in '15, but -– well, actually, you have to move this back, I suppose, a year, now that you're starting up in '16?  

MR. FAY:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  In any event, let's look at the 678; I think that's really the relevant number.  That’s 678,000 GJs available for sale, is that it, sale to the transportation industry; correct?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  And the way you get that is you say -- if I look at the notes, assumes 344 days liquefaction times average daily liquefaction of 3,186.  So 3,186 is what your current liquefaction facilities -- or I should say your liquefaction facilities as the plant is currently set up, that's how much it can do; correct?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  That's not going to change under this -- 

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  

     MR. BRETT:  No.  So the reason you've used 344 is what?  I take it the maintenance days are out.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So then you have to subtract from that, and that very roughly comes out -- I did some very rough arithmetic, and I stress it was rough, but to about 995,000 GJs, multiplying the 344 by the 3186.  

But then you subtract the boil-off replacement and the 

system integrity vaporization, and you get 678,000 GJs, right?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  And I don't have the boil-off here, but 

I recall it was something in the order of 104,000 GJs; is that right?  

     MR. FAY:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So that means you’ve got about 270-odd, roughly -- let me just see here.  Yes, you've got roughly 270,000-odd that you've set aside for vaporization?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It's actually almost 314 that we've set aside. 

     MR. BRETT:  So 314 you've set aside? 

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, for vaporization and to deal with boil-off, and then potential system integrity events.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  But your vaporized volumes in the last five years have been very small part of that, right?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  So you've got a very -- if I can put it this way, you've got a very conservative -- you've left quite a bit of room there for potential vaporization requirements?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We took a very conservative position around how much you would require for system integrity events, to make sure that there was always sufficient supply and sufficient volume there to meet any event, far beyond what we've seen in the last five years.  

     MR. BRETT:  That's what my point was going to be.  In other words, in terms of weather-related, even last winter you had 57,000 or something.  So you're into the realm here of pipeline breaks, and things of that nature?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  

     MR. FAY:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  Okay.  Then the other question I had for you is concerning -- I had just one question on your idea of a market.  You said a market -– the key thing to have in the market are sufficient supply and sufficient demand and transparency pricing.  

Now, when you say transparency of pricing, is that a synonym for a rate, in other words?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  For the utility, it would be a rate.  But I think as we've stated in some of our interrogatories in the evidence, the limited supply that is being sold out there right now is under private contract, so there is no price disclosure.  So the --

     MR. BRETT:  Go ahead, sorry.  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  In the diesel market, there's many 

published indices and ways of finding out whether or not the diesel price you are being provided is within the realm of a competitive market.  

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, I think in the case of diesel, they probably post them, don’t they?  Don't the refineries post prices like that for various products?

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I've seen them on energy indexes.  I'm not sure if it's --

     MR. BRETT:  Isn't the key thing about a market that you can find out that there's more than one seller and more than one buyer?  If you're looking at it from a buyer’s point of view, you can go to different sellers and ask for quotes?  

I mean, to take an extreme example, the real estate market is a very competitive market, but it's not transparent in the conversional sense, in the sense there's a rate.  

So my question really is to you:  Isn't the key 

consideration in a market that you can go and compare prices?  You've got different sellers that you can compare prices from, and vice versa, if you're a seller, different buyers.


Now, buyers, is that not a critical thing?  I mean, you don't -- let me maybe put it another way.  You don't need a rate from a utility to ensure that you have a transparent market, do you?  In fact -- 

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  You need to be able to discover prices, but from the utility's viewpoint our only price is our rates.  

     MR. BRETT:  I understand that.  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So I do need a rate to be transparent.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.


Mr. Millar?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good afternoon, panel.  Many of my questions have been asked, but I have a few left.  I'm going to start again, unfortunately, with a question about competition.  This is coming to you a number of ways, and I'll be very brief on it, I promise.


But obviously the basis behind Northeast's motion is that they believe there is competition in this area sufficient to protect the public interest, and I've heard you say a number of things about that, that, as far as I could hear, did not necessarily disagree with that.

So I'm going to try and put the question to you more directly, and that is this:  Does Union agree that there is or will be competition in this area sufficient to protect the public interest?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We believe there will be.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Of course, one of the Board's key mandates -- I didn't bring the Act with me before, but I'm sure you will have reviewed the Board's objectives at some time, and one of the objectives is to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service.  You would have seen that at some point over your careers, no doubt.


In the current case, who would the consumer be that this rate is designed to protect?  Would it be the consumers of the liquefaction service?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We would agree it's the consumers of the liquefaction service.

     MR. MILLAR:  And is it Union's view that these consumers need the protection of a regulated rate?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I think it's our view that, because we're using regulated assets, that we require either a regulated rate or a certainty around what the charge would be that the non-utility would pay.  Our request isn't -- we're not asking for the rate so much because we think they need protection, but more for -- that we have certainty around how to deal with what is a regulated asset.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I'll get to that in a moment.


I want to be careful -- again, like my friends -- that I don't stray into things that are not part of the motion.  I do have some questions that relate at least a little bit to cost allocation, so hopefully you'll bear with me a bit.  I think they do relate back to the motion.


So what Union proposes to do for this new rate -- and let me go through this in steps.  So first of all, there's a number of incremental costs that Union will be incurring, some capital costs, some new O&M, and I understand all of that will be allocated to this new rate; is that correct?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I think I misspoke earlier when I was speaking with Northeast's witness.  There are also some existing costs of the Hagar facility that will be allocated to this new rate; is that correct?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  I may say it a little bit differently, but yes, that's true.  I would say that the new service is contributing to the recovery of existing Hagar costs.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe in this regard, could I ask you to turn to Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1?  And this is a schedule -- if I'm looking at this correctly, this is the -- these are the current costs associated with the existing Hagar facility; is that right?

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  These are the 2013 Board-approved Hagar costs.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And if you look down alternately at either lines 26 or 31, you have the revenue requirement number associated with the current facility, and it's either a bit over 5 million or about 4.8 million, depending on how you count; is that correct?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And then you might want to keep your finger on this, but schedule 6, a few pages forward, that's the schedule for the new rate that you propose; is that right?  That's the liquefaction rate?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I see that you do allocate, at least as I term "allocate" -- some of the existing costs for the Hagar facility are included in there, but I was having a bit of trouble running through the numbers, and I'm wondering if I can put this in a more simple manner.


Back at schedule 1, of the approximately $5 million in revenue requirement associated with Hagar currently, how  much of that is being allocated to the new rate? 

     MR. TETREAULT:  Just pondering your question, Mr. Millar.  I think the -- let me try to tackle it this way, using these schedules.


So as I mentioned in direct earlier today, 2013 Board-approved Hagar costs, excluding compressor fuel, are the 5,098,000.  That's line 26 of column A of schedule 1.

For the purposes of rate design, we've used the figure on line 31.  That's the 4.789 million.  And if we move to the right on line 31, you'll see there are functionalized liquefaction costs of approximately 1.7 million and storage costs of approximately 2.6, 2.7 million.


So if we then, with an eye on those figures, move to Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 6, you will see lines 1 through 5 relate to the contribution the new rate has to make to -- that we're proposing it makes to the recovery of liquefaction costs.


So the first line there is the 1.747 million that we just referred to on schedule 1.  And then we're going through -- this is a long answer, but we're going through an exercise of determining what the contribution needs to be to the recovery of liquefaction costs based on the number of days' flow.


The average number of days' flow is 170 over 365.  So I think that's somewhere around 55 to 60 percent.


So what I can say with regard to the allocation of liquefaction costs is that the proposed rate is contributing roughly 55 to 60 percent of the $1.7 million.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's very helpful.  Thank you.  And -- go ahead.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I was going to just elaborate on storage.  So, again, going back to tab 2, schedule 1, the functionalized storage costs are roughly $2.7 million, and then moving forward to schedule 6, the proposed liquefaction rate also needs to make a contribution to the recovery of storage costs.


So if we look at lines 10 through 15, that's where that calculation is taking place.


And in a nutshell, what you can see there is that the new liquefaction service will use roughly 7,000 of the overall storage space of 648,000.  So that is -- and we're basing the storage portion of the rate on that, so that's roughly 1 percent.  


So roughly 1 percent of the $2.7 million would be the allocated storage cost to the new service.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And what about the vaporization?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  There is no proposed contribution to the recovery of vaporization costs at Hagar, because the liquefaction service will not use vaporization assets.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So using that as a very rough measure, I guess it would be -- between the revenue requirement that will be allocated from the existing facility to the new service will be about a bit more than half of the $1.7 million associated with liquefaction and about 1 percent of the 2.6 million?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I believe overall it's -- by the time you do the revenue calculation on the portion of the rate that is the contribution, I believe it's in the neighbourhood of 6- to $700,000 in total.  That was the figure I quoted a little bit earlier this afternoon.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's very helpful.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  So what you need to do is take -- for liquefaction, as an example, you'd need to take line 5.  So you see there's a rate on line 5 of $1.08 per GJ, and you would need to multiply that by line 17, which is the average annual sales forecast of 412,000.  So that gives you a sense of the revenue associated with the contribution portion of the rate.


As I said, I believe it's in between 6- and $700,000 annually.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  That's very helpful.


And if I understood you correctly -- and I may not have, so do correct me if I'm wrong -- the way that this amount, I guess, is recovered in the new rate is through a cross-charge?  Is that what I heard?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, no, not through a cross-charge.  The cross-charge only, I guess, exists in the hypothetical scenario where this is deemed to be a non-utility service.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  This is a rate that we've proposed.  It will exist on a new L1 rate schedule.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It's part of schedule 6, of course.

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the cross-charge would come into effect in a hypothetical if this became unregulated?

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct, in a circumstance where it's a non-utility service and the non-utility business needs to compensate the utility for using utility assets.  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And if that were to occur, that cross-charge would be the $600,000 to $700,000?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  It would incorporate the portion of our proposed rates that provide a contribution to the recovery of existing Hagar costs. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And I guess you wouldn't have a formal rate if it were unregulated.  But obviously you would have -- it would be called a rate, I suppose.  You would be charging the consumer something, and that $600,000 to $700,000 would be ultimately paid by those customers of the new service?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.  And from Union's 

standpoint, there would be -- you may not have a rate on a rate schedule per se in the regulated sense, but there would be, I'll say, an accounting transaction to ensure that the non-utility paid for its use of utility assets.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Very much like how we handle excess utility storage space.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.  So that charge would be paid to Union -- and I'm talking in the period before rebasing now.  If the service were unregulated, would that count as utility earnings?  Or would that be something separate?  Would it be outside of utility earnings?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  My view is during IR the cross-charge from the utility standpoint would be treated as utility revenue, and therefore form part of utility earnings, which, as you know, are subject to earning sharing during IR.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So if -- even if the service became unregulated, at least in your view, the cross-charge would count as utility earnings and would be -- to the extent the triggers were hit, it would be shared with ratepayers?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Prior to rebasing -- just so we're all on the same page here, you're scheduled to be rebased next for 2019; is that correct?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Until that time, you're currently 

recovering through your rates, if you look at schedule 1, let's call it $5 million in revenue requirement for Hagar?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Sure.  

     MR. MILLAR:  As it currently stands, whether the motion is granted or not, there wouldn't be a change 

to your underlying rates to reflect this new service?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, there wouldn't be.  That would be 

something we would do at the time of rebasing.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So for 2016, 2017 and 2018, you would continue to recover approximately $5 million for Hagar through your existing rates, and you would also recover this cross-charge as well; is that right?  Either the cross-charge or the rate associated with the existing Hagar facility?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  So you would have in either scenario -– certainly under our proposal, you would have additional utility revenue that would form part of utility earnings.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I think I understand why you think this is okay, but would you agree with me that that would be double-counting?  You'd be recovering two times for the Hagar facility?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know if I would call it double-counting.  I would call it more that a new service needs to provide a contribution in a manner consistent with other rates we've designed during the last IR.

So it goes to what I mentioned earlier, which is that just because the costs are fully allocated and recovered doesn't mean a new service we've developed somehow gets to use the assets for free.  And that's really what the contribution is meant to represent.  

As I mentioned earlier, there were several services that we proposed during the last IR that the Board approved, that have within their rate design the recovery, or providing a contribution to the recovery of existing costs.  I mentioned a few of them earlier; perhaps it's useful to mention one again.  

As an example the Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL transportation service we developed in, I think it was, either 2010 or 2011 had the same type of concept.  And there were other M12 C1 services developed that utilized the same methodology from a rate design perspective, that were approved by the Board at the time.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I do understand the explanation.  I do understand why that may be an appropriate thing to happen, but I just want to make sure I have the underlying facts straight.  

You are recovering $5 million for Hagar currently, every year, approximately?

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And that does cover the entire revenue requirement for Hagar?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  It recovers the 2013 Board-approved costs, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And under either scenario, you will be recovering an additional 6- to $700,000 for the existing Hagar facility?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And those would not be to cover any incremental costs; those would be to cover existing costs? 

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So you would be, in effect, earning about $5,650,000 dollars a year off the existing Hagar facility?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Well, I don't know if I would say we're earning that.  I would say there would be – you know, based on forecast, there would be utility revenue to that 

level.  

Again, IR is about all our revenues and costs which need to be managed over the course of that period of time. So this revenue, all other things being equal, will contribute to utility earnings. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  Thank you.  Let me move on.  Again, this has been covered to some extent, so I won't belabour it.  

As I understand Union's opposition to the motion, it's not so much on the competition grounds, but it is more of the -- what you describe as the unique and specific circumstances associated with the Hagar facility.  And I'll take to you a well-worn paragraph; that's paragraph 6 of your reply to the motion.  I think I'll be brief on this, because it's been covered by a number of other parties.

But I think what I understood, at least from a high level, is that there's two reasons for your opposition to having this service unregulated, and the first is that it's some combination of it being both interruptible and being used for system integrity.

And then I think the other reason I heard, speaking at a broad level, as that there would be some difficulties with the cost allocation, on exactly how you would do it at the highest level; have I got that right?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I'll address the first part of that.  So yes, at the highest level it's because the service itself is embedded into the fact that Hagar is a system integrity asset.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Why does that mean that the new service has to be regulated?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Because you can't operate it without -- Union actually dictates how it's operated, versus the unregulated entity.  So Union will be the one to tell, if you had an unregulated entity in a hypothetical situation, that it was or was not available, because the unregulated utility would have no ability to determine that.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, could you repeat that?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Union, the regulated entity, it is solely at their discretion as to whether or not it's available.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Millar, if I could -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  Is your mic on?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  It is, sorry.  I would also say that we felt we needed to come to the Board for a regulated rate for the reason Ms. Van Der Paelt mentioned, which is it is a regulated asset paid for by utility ratepayers in its entirety.  So we felt we needed to come to the Board for approval of all of the section 36 requests we have in front of the Board here today.  

     MR. MILLAR:  The integrity function that the facility currently serves, whether the motion is granted or not, that would continue to be regulated; correct?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I think you sought to distinguish this from the situation in NGEIR.  Could you help me with that?  I don't want to put words in your mouth, but if you could give me the 20-second overview of why you think this is different from NGEIR. 

     MR. TETREAULT:  You mentioned difficulties with cost 

allocation in your question, Mr. Millar.  I don't think there are difficulties with cost allocation.  What I was suggesting earlier is that what differentiates this from the NGEIR Decision and the accounting separation we had to undertake at Dawn several years ago is with Dawn, you clearly had firm utility assets that were there to provide firm service to distribution customers.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's the 100 PJs?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  That's the 100 PJs that was reserved for in-franchise or utility requirements.  And at the 

same time, you clearly had firm assets over and above the 100 PJs that was reserved for utility purposes, that were there for ex-franchise customers, if you will.  

And so from an accounting standpoint -- and again, I'm paraphrasing here, but you could go through quickly and look at the demands associated with the assets, and after that review separate out those costs, those assets.  

I don't think -- I would describe it this way.  I don't think it makes sense necessarily to do that with Hagar, because the only firm service that Hagar can provide, if I can even call it a service, is its 

system integrity function.

So there is no firm asset in this circumstance that is surplus to utility requirements.  Hagar, by its very nature, is required for system integrity purposes.  It's only the fact that we have, on an interruptible basis anyway, surplus liquefaction capacity that even allows us to begin to think about offering the service we've applied for approval of.  So very different circumstances, in my view.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Union offers a short-term storage rate; is that correct?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  We offer short-term storage services under our market-priced schedule, yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And that allows you to use some of the 100 petajoules that's been allocated to in-franchise customers and, on a short-term basis, sell that to ex-franchise customers?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, the storage space of the 100 PJs that's excess to utility needs is sold short-term by the non-utility business. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Isn't that the same thing that we're looking at for Hagar?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  No, I think the difference there to me is those short-term storage assets in the case of the 100 PJ amount that's -- or the portion of that that's over and above what the utility requirements -- those are firm assets.  Those are assets that we know are available for sale on the non-utility side, subject to sharing with ratepayers.


We have -- we don't know that.  In fact, we know the opposite with regard to Hagar.  If we have a system integrity event and need to refill the tank and therefore use the liquefaction capacity to do so, we have a very, if any, limited -- or we have a very limited, if any, ability to offer this interruptible service, so I don't see -- I know it's been put to me several ways, but I don't see the analogy between Dawn and Hagar in this context.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Tetreault or any of the witnesses, doubtless you're familiar with the settlement agreement that gave rise to your current IRM plan?  You were involved in that proceeding in some manner, I assume?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I was.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And by my read of it, it doesn't speak directly to a service becoming unregulated; is that fair to say?  It's silent on that?  

     MR. TETREAULT:  I believe that's correct, subject to check.  I have not reviewed it, the settlement agreement, recently.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I don't know if you can answer this question or not, but if the motion is granted, does Union know what it's going to do?  Do you intend to pursue this service anyway?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We would still pursue the service, but if the motion was granted, we would still need the cross-charge or some decision around the costs and the allocation --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  -- so assuming that we would have that in hand, we would still intend on offering the service.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:
     MS. SPOEL:  I have a question about the storage.  The 7,000 GJs of storage that you proposed, the cost of which you propose to allocate to rates, is a very small percentage of your storage capacity at Hagar, and I understand the reason for that number.  


If you didn't have -- if you were starting from scratch, could you build 7,000 GJs of storage capacity for the kind of cost that you'll end up charging for it in this rate?

I have no idea what it costs to build storage capacity, but I just wonder whether it's a pro rata cost based on the size of it or whether there's an economy of scale in having a large storage facility that you're using a very small portion of in this rate?  

     MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I don't have the information to know what it would cost to build 7,000 GJs of storage.  I think our cost allocation was based on some new technology that was described in our application around metering which actually enabled us to find space that is currently not being used.


The witness who isn't part of this panel can speak to that more when we're talking about the application piece, but that's as much as I have on that part.

     MR. TETREAULT:  It may be worthwhile for me to point out, though, that the incremental investment in storage that allows us to get another 7,000 GJs of space out of the tank that's the radar measurement that we're investing in, that cost will be entirely borne by the new liquefaction service, in addition to them providing a contribution to the recovery of storage costs.

So there's two elements with regard to storage.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Right.  No, I'm just trying to get a notion on a unit basis whether -- you've said that -- you've said in your evidence that the existing ratepayers won't be subsidizing the cost or underwriting it, and I'm just trying to get a notion of, if you didn't have that -- I understand the liquefaction side of it, you know.  A fair amount of the capacity is proposed to be used for this, so presumably there's some kind of reasonable ratio of the cost.


But I'm wondering, when it's just such a very small percentage of the storage capacity, whether the marginal cost is much lower by finding that extra -- and I'm not criticizing you for finding an extra 7,000 GJs and using it.

I'm just trying to get a notion, an order of magnitude kind of notion on exact number, but sort of a notion of whether the ability to use that 7,000 or the fact that it's there is much less expensive storage than if you were having to create that in some other way, or whether it's -- the cost is similar, and that's -- you may have to -- you may have to inform yourselves and come back, but I just raise that question for you.  

     MR. TETREAULT:  And that's fair, Member Spoel.  I don't know the answer to that question specifically.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Keizer, do you have any redirect?  

     MR. KEIZER:  I do not, Madam Chair.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Then I think, Mr. Lederman, what we would like to do is start with your argument of the motion.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  All right.


MS. LONG:  Okay?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. LEDERMAN:

MR. LEDERMAN:  I just have a compendium that I want to circulate.  

     MS. LONG:  You're excused.  Thank you for your evidence.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, while we're getting organized, maybe we could mark these as exhibits?

     MS. LONG:  Yes, thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I think we are -- I see there are -- you should have two booklets in front of you.  The first is the outline of argument of Northeast, and that will be Exhibit K1.3. 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  OUTLINE OF ARGUMENT OF NORTHEAST MIDSTREAM LP.

MR. MILLAR:  And then the second book is a compendium of Northeast, and that will be K1.4.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  NORTHEAST MIDSTREAM LP COMPENDIUM.
     MR. LEDERMAN:  There was a lot of paper in the file, and I know that you've had the benefit of a fairly lengthy factum that I filed, but I thought that it would assist the Panel and my friends if I gave you an outline of the specific argument in support of this motion.


I am going to follow this quite closely.  There are some things I need to add based on some of the evidence I heard today, but as much as possible, the documents that Northeast is relying on in support of this motion should be within the compendium and the arguments laid out before you in this outline. 

     MS. LONG:  And Mr. Lederman, just before you continue, I have you down for about 90 minutes in argument; is that still accurate?

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Yeah, what I -- that was -- I'm going to hope to streamline it based on having this outline before you --

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  That's fine.  Take your time.  I just wanted to let you know that for the court reporter we will be taking a break around 3:30.  I'd like to shoot for there, so if you can kind of plan your argument accordingly.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes, that's no problem.  And an hour and a half also contemplated a brief reply, so I think that I should be less than that.


So we've raised, from the outset -- it was in my factum, and it's here as the first issue.  Before we even get to section 29.1, we have a concern -- Northeast has a concern -- as to whether the application itself should be proceeding under section 36.  And the reason for that 

is that this application has been constituted by Union as 

one that is seeking an Order approving a new rate schedule and cost-based rate to accommodate this proposed interruptible liquefaction service.  

And it's Northeast's position that bringing this application pursuant to section 36 -- in doing so, 

Union has failed to have regard for the regulation, and 

specifically section 2.2 of the regulation.  

And if you turn that up, which can be found at tab 3, this is section 2.2 of the regulation, and it tells us what section 36 of the Energy Board Act does not apply to.  And it tells us that it does not apply to a class A distributor in respect of the sale, transmission, distribution or storage of motor vehicle fuel gas if -- and then you'll see 

there's three things that that class A distributor would do -- or any other person in respect of the sale, transmission, distribution or storage of motor vehicle gas.  

It's Northeast's submission that Union’s proposed service meets the requirements of the regulation at section 2.  Union is either a class A distributor under section 2.2(a), or it is any other person in respect of the sale, transmission, distribution or storage of motor vehicle gas under section 2.2(b).

Union admits that it intends to sell LNG as a motor vehicle fuel, using excess capacity not required for system integrity, and its intentions are to use that for no other purpose.  And you can see I've included Union's position on that, both in an excerpt from their application at tab 4 of the compendium -- you will see that this is for preferable fuel for heavy-duty vehicles at item 4 of the application, and then also in the non-binding call for expressions of interest.  

Union, in February of this year, in doing so and making this call for interest for LNG services, explains at the end of that second page of the document that the use of LNG is limited to transportation fuels, and I'm looking at the last bullet of that second page behind tab 4.  

So Northeast submits that Union falls right into the regulation of 2.2, and that section 36 should not be invoked; the Board should not be asked to issue an Order.  

Now, Union was asked about this regulation, and in our submission, Union has not provided an adequate explanation in respect of this inquiry.  

If you look at tab 5, Energy Probe specifically asked in item (a) on this first page:

"Why does Union want to provide this proposed LNG transportation service as a regulated service rather than a non-utility business?"

And the answer that's given is to look at response to Exhibit B, Staff 6, which is behind the blue divider.  And the question at Staff 6 was actually the question that was last asked by Mr. Millar of the Union witnesses:  What do you intend to do if you don't receive a rate?  Do you still continue to carry forward with the new service?  

So in answer to Energy Probe's question as to why the regulation doesn't apply, Union's response is look at what we said in Board Staff -- Exhibit B, Staff 6.  And the response, if you pick it up sort of midway through the response beginning with the word "for":

"... for LNG that is used exclusively as a transportation fuel and is therefore subject to regulatory exemption, a new standalone plant investment and related services would not be regulated."

  So Northeast takes the position that based on admissions from Union as to its intentions with this new service to be used as a transportation fuel, it's regulatory-exempt by virtue of this regulation.  The Board should not be asked to issue an Order pursuant to 36.

But the answer goes on in the answer to Exhibit B, Staff 6, to say this is not the case with Hagar facility.  So Hagar is not one where it's exclusively transportation fuel:

"... for LNG that is used for the purposes other than transportation" -- that is non-exempt -- "a new standalone plant investment and related services should be subject to competitive market and regulatory forbearance determinations."

So it's our submission that this response doesn't ask why this Board is being asked for a regulated rate, when the use of LNG has been limited to transportation fuels.  

Union also states at tab 6, which is part of the response, there's a recognition that, well, if this was a 

new greenfield type of LNG development, then we could not come before the Board and ask for regulation.  A new greenfield facility would be exempt.  

But the evidence that Northeast has put forward from Dr. Gaske is that Union's capital investments relate directly to the dispensing of LNG as motor vehicle fuel, and they're easily separated from the utility requirements.  These investments are not related to the utility requirement.  They are essentially greenfield.  They're greenfield-like investments, aimed entirely at selling LNG as a motor vehicle fuel.  And it's our submission they should not be subject to regulation.  

In some ways, and this is our primary argument –- sorry, our threshold argument, the inquiry should stop there.  My friends have not been able to demonstrate why the regulation should not be invoked, and this Board should not have to set a rate pursuant to section 36.  

That takes me to item B, which is now dealing with 29.1, and we of course think that NGEIR is instructive. NGEIR is one of two cases that has considered the section and considered section 29(1) in detail, and it's clear from the reading of the section that what the Board is being asked to do when bringing a motion under section 29.1 is examine findings of fact, look at -- make findings of fact and determine whether a class of products, a service, is or will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest.  

And NGEIR, if you go to tab 9 -- I've taken excerpts of NGEIR throughout the compendium.  NGEIR, at page 30 of the Board's Decision, sets out a framework for how one conducts the factual inquiry when analyzing section 29(1), and the Board sets that framework by looking at the merger enforcement guidelines, and assessing market impact of mergers from a competition perspective.  

That's where these factors come forward, and they're set out clearly.  You have the identification of the product market, you identify the geographic market, you calculate market share and market concentration measures, and then you perform an assessment of the conditions for the entry of new suppliers, together with any dynamic efficiency considerations.

The Board found in NGEIR that perfect competition is not required.  And that's why we had the discussion this morning, when Dr. Gaske was testifying, that he was 

talking about a workably competitive environment, which is what the Board found in NGEIR as what the competition threshold should be.  

And for that reference, you can find it at tab 10 of 

the compendium.  I've side-barred the section that the Board considered that it's not necessary to find there is perfect competition in a market to meet the statutory test, and what economists refer to as a workably competitive market may well be sufficient.  

Now, this interpretation, in my submission, of not 

requiring perfect competition, but examining whether competition is workably competitive for the purposes of

invoking section 29.1 is consistent with the statutory objective of this Board.


Section 2 of the Act provides what the overall objectives for the Board are in relation to gas.  And I've included the relevant portion of that section at tab 11, and you'll see that section 2 of the Act says:

"The Board, in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other Act in relation to gas, shall be guided by the following objectives..."


And number 1:

"To facilitate competition in the sale of gas to users."

So the notion that competition doesn't need to be perfect falls right into suit with the objective of the Board.


And the Board operates -- this is my last point on page 2 -- the Board operates on the premise that forbearance from setting rates, the request that we're asking -- asking the Board to forbear from setting rates -- is preferable to regulations, as it delivers better outcomes for the public.


And in support of that, I also refer to NGEIR, specifically page 25 of the Decision.  At the top of the page:

"Regulators in Canada and the United States offer two related grounds for forbearance.  The first was that markets were being redefined by new technology, and therefore competition rather than regulation could produce better outcomes in terms of the quantity and prices of goods and services, all of which maximize social welfare."


If you go over the page in my outline, if you're still with me, is if -- is -- my next point is that there really is no dispute as to whether there is competition or will be competition sufficient to protect the public interest.  The base elements of section 29.1 appear to be uncontested.

The product market is motor vehicle transportation fuel.  The geographic market is Ontario, Quebec, and portions of the northeast and the midwest United States.  We looked at both of those things when Dr. Gaske was testifying.


With respect to market share and concentration, the LNG motor fuel market is nascent; it's emerging.  Union is a new entrant to the ex-franchise market, and there are other LNG providers already operating in Union's geographic market, so we've heard that.


The public interest, in our submission, is the question -- the question of public interest is the operation of a competitive market, and Dr. Gaske elaborated on that this morning.  He was asked about that, and he said in analyzing the public interest, you look at competitive price.  You also look at quality and variety of services, all of which to see if you've got a competitive market.


And there seems to be no dispute from Union that this market will be or is sufficiently competitive to protect the public interest.  In fact, one of the last statements that we heard from Union's witness, Ms. Van Der Paelt, was that she agrees with that proposition that the market is sufficiently competitive to protect the public interest.


So in our submission, we've met all of the elements, or the facts, when you're doing a factual inquiry, meet all the elements of section 29.


That takes me to item C, and this is the issue of -- even if you've got an admission on the part of Union and a recognition that the market is competitive and sufficiently competitive to protect the public interest, they argue:  Deny this motion on the basis of special and unique circumstances.


First position that was set out in Union's materials was that it's too complicated to allocate the costs at Hagar as between in-franchise and ex-franchise services.


And Mr. Tetreault was challenged a little bit on that by my friends in cross-examination, and he conceded that accounting separation in theory can be done, but he indicated that it would be difficult to do in practice.


But towards the end of his testimony, he admitted that allocating costs in this environment between ex-franchise and in-franchise is possible and can be done.


The same argument -- again, separation of services and costing -- was directly rejected by the Board in NGEIR, and I'm at heading number 2 at the bottom of page 3.  And in that case, the Board found that a functionally integrated facility could be notionally divided into utility assets required for in-franchise services and non-utility assets required for regulatory services.


If you turn up tab 18, you'll see -- this is actually page 3 of the tab.  If you go to page 73, you'll see that the Board had found that functional separation is not necessary.  The evidence before the Board is that it would be costly and difficult to establish a functional separation of utility and non-utility storage.  There is no evidence as such that there would be significant benefits from such a separation.


My next point is at page 4.  And this is an argument that, even though it's complex, you can come up with systems to allocate as between the two types of assets.  And Mr. Tetreault had acknowledged that it's possible in theory; it may be difficult in practice, but it's possible to do.


And the Board considered that also here at tab 18, if you go to page 74 at the top.  I've highlighted a conclusion of the Board that Union's cost allocation study is adequate for the purpose of separating the regulated and unregulated costs and revenues for ratemaking purposes.


And I note, just in a sub-point here, that both Union and Enbridge had supported this approach in NGEIR.  And that can be found at -- behind the blue divider you'll see at page 71 of the NGEIR Decision under the heading 5.2.5.  Both Union and Enbridge propose to separate the unregulated costs and revenues from the regulated costs and revenues using a cost allocation study.


In our submission, there is no rational basis why we should distinguish this case before you from that in NGEIR.  This case is factually analogous to NGEIR in many ways.  In NGEIR, Union could sell services to ex-franchise customers only once it had fulfilled its franchise needs, its in-franchise needs, and here Union is similarly bound by those system integrity commitments that it has at Hagar.


In NGEIR it would not have been operationally feasible for Union to physically separate its in-franchise and ex-franchise services.  It just couldn't.  It was difficult to do.  It was not operationally feasible.


Here, there is no suggestion that it's necessary to physically separate the services or that it's impossible to do.


In NGEIR, development in recent years have been driven by the ex-franchise market, not by in-franchise needs, and here Union is also driven by ex-franchise needs and is applying in direct response to an increased interest in the use of natural gas and LNG, particularly as preferable fuel for heavy-duty vehicles.

And I have references there at the end of this point at tab 4, which comes from Union's application.  If you're taking notes, the tab before I referred to, 21, should actually be 18, page 82 of the NGEIR Decision.


I now want to try to address some points we heard this morning, other bases upon which there were some special and unique circumstances.  This, I have to go off the outline, but it flows from a series of questions of the Union witnesses.  It started with a question from the Panel, Ms. Spoel, and also followed by my friend Mr. Rubenstein, and it seemed to try to address the distinction between firm versus interruptible services and whether there was a spectrum of interruptibility, and I think Union recognized that there can be.  

Northeast submits that if this service being proposed by Union is an interruptible service, it's -- it may be interruptible on a minute-by-minute or day-by-day basis, but it's a firm service in the medium and long-term.  

And in support of that submission, I look back at the call for expression of interest.  And here, I don't have it included in my compendium, but it was Exhibit E to Joshua Samuel's affidavit that we had put forward on behalf of Northeast.  

I don't know if we can call it up, but in the terms of service that were being proposed by Union, in the calls for expression for interest, the services that were being sought were beginning as early as Q3 2015 -- I'm not sure if the Panel has that -- but to accommodate a variety of consumption patterns.  And the initial contract term 

was for up to ten years, and there would be a minimal annual commitment.  

So in my submission, the service, at least in terms of their call for expression of interest, Union's, was one contemplated to be firm and to be made on be on an annual basis.  We don't have the contracts, but I think there is an argument that they were thinking of the spectrum of interruptibility; this would fall on a spectrum that I think is further on the firm spectrum than on the interruptibility spectrum.  

We heard in evidence that by virtue of the concern of interrupting -- no, the reason that the ex-franchise service may be interruptible is by virtue of the system 

integrity needs.  And as a result, related capital costs going into the new service are truly -- are not truly non-utility in nature.

In other words, as Dr. Gaske had indicated in paragraph 4 of his reply affidavit, Union is suggesting that the ex-franchise service it will be providing will be incidental to the utility service at Hagar.  

However, it's Northeast's submission that it is likely that the ex-franchise services that are being contemplated and being proposed will become the dominant concern at Hagar, even if they're only for pilot projects.  If you look at tab -- in answer to interrogatory given to Northeast Midstream, which is Exhibit B, Northeast 24, we see here the annual load factor.

This is the usage rate at the Hagar plant for the last ten years.  And over the last six years -– sorry, the question was for the ten years, but we've got six years here.  And over the last six years, the load factor has never been more than 12 percent.  

Dr. Gaske, his evidence was that between 95 percent and 100 percent of the total liquefaction capacity at Hagar could be available for servicing ex-franchise needs going forward.  He wasn't challenged on that point today.  We did hear that there's 1 percent being held for storage, but that's not liquefaction capacity.  So when it came to 

what's the percentage that's actually being used, potentially being used for this new service, we've got Dr. Gaske's evidence that it's between 95 and 100 percent.

And we also heard for the first time an answer to the question posed by CME as to what that percentage should be, and Mr. Tetreault indicated that it was just slightly less than the amount set out in that question put out by 

CME.  It was pretty much exactly the number that Dr. Gaske had put forward.  

It's our submission that, at a minimum, Union will not 

make a final capital investment and build facilities unless it can secure these ex-franchise contracts prior to the in-service date, representing 50 percent or more of Hagar's total liquefaction capacity.  And that comes from another answer to a Northeast question.  This is the answer to 45, and the question was:

"What is the minimum contracted quantity that will trigger Union to make a final investment decision and build the facilities?"  

Union's response was:

"Union will need a minimum commitment or a very high expectation of completing contracts prior to the in-service date of at least 50 percent of the liquefaction capacity available."

So based on that answer, which is it's going to be at least 50 percent, and Dr. Gaske's evidence, which says it could be up to 95 percent, it's our submission that this is going to become the dominant concern at Hagar.  And it answers, from our perspective, some of the special and unique circumstances that have been inferred by Union with 

respect to this service merely being incidental, or focusing on its interruptibility.  

I'm moving on to a next section, which is at page 4 of my outline, certain factors calling for a rejection of Union's position.  And I note the time, Madam Chair.  It may be a decent time to break.  I don't think I am going to be a whole lot longer.

     MS. LONG:  Why don't we break until quarter to 4:00?  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 3:28 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:49 p.m.

     MS. LONG:  Please continue.  

     MR. LEDERMAN:  When we broke, I had gone through why, in our client's view, the -- this case is analogous to NGEIR, and I had also made some submissions as to why there were no special and unique circumstances which favour Union's position.


I'm at page 4 of my outline, and I'm at heading D, and I want to just identify some factors which call for the rejection of Union's position.


Union is asking to shift this business risk, their business risk, onto its existing ratepayers.  It intends on investing 9.9 million in capital costs into Hagar in order to increase storage capacity and facilitate the dispensing of LNG to tanker trucks.  It intends on adding that capital cost of this investment to its rate base.  


And as we heard from Mr. Tetreault, it's only costs above and beyond the 9.9 million which will be absorbed by Union.  Otherwise, the risks of all of these capital costs are put onto the ratepayers.  And it won't be until 2019 at rebasing that Union would attempt to increase the rate to ensure that there is no revenue deficiency.


Union does not intend on inputting other revenues to make up for any shortfall that Union shareholders will assume, such that Union shareholders will assume the under-performance risk, and while ratepayers may be entitled to share profits under the IRM, they are being asked to bear the risk of the venture under-performing.


The Board in NGEIR found specifically that shareholders ought -- ought not -- that shareholders ought to bear the risk of a non-utility asset.


Item 2 on page 5, this addressed one of the concerns that you heard from Mr. Samuel's testimony about a concern of Northeast about unfair competition.

Competition that's fair makes sense and is healthy, and unfair competition is not.  And it's our submission that in the section 36 request, Union is asking to be privileged within an otherwise competitive market.


The market, as you've heard, is -- it's indisputably competitive.  It's emerging.  And if Union is to add the capital costs of its investment to its rate base, a new market entrant such as Northeast -- which operates solely or predominantly in the unregulated market -- has no rate base to add such costs to.  New market entrants other than Northeast would therefore necessarily enter at a competitive disadvantage to Union.


Should Union's ex-franchise service expand, as Dr. Gaske has predicted, this would further increase the competitive disadvantage to new entrants.  And in our submission, this would be entirely contradictory to the objectives of this Board under section 2(1) of the Act, where the Board has that primary objective to promote competition.


One last point -- it's item 3, and I'm not going to belabour the point, but I just want to make it.  Should this Panel determine that forbearance is appropriate, it will not preclude Union from operationalizing its proposed interruptible liquefaction service.  They've still developed -- Union has developed a robust cost allocation methodology which is independent of the rate being set, and they've specifically asked in their submissions that they will be asking the Board, even if the motion is successful, to make a finding on its cost allocation methodologies.


I've spent a fair bit of time in my submission discussing the lack of special and unique circumstances, but much of that discussion and much of the evidence we heard, in my submission, is a little bit of a red herring to the true question before the Board.


Recall, Union does not oppose the overall basis of this motion.  That's what they said at paragraph 4 of their submissions.  And they've admitted -- they've admitted today and in other places that its newly proposed service will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest.


In my submission, that's all Northeast needs on this motion.  When asking the Board to invoke section 29.1, we ask the Board that the Board shall make a determination to refrain in whole or in part from exercising any power or performing any duty under the Act if it finds as a question of fact that, in this case, the service is or will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest.  And we submit that the Board ought to do so pursuant to section 29.1.


I would just like to make some brief submissions with respect to Northeast's request for costs.  As the Board knows, there is a practice direction on cost awards.  And I've put a couple points in here that a party may be eligible for a cost award where the party represents the direct interest of consumers -- for example, ratepayers -- or represents an interest or policy perspective relevant to the Board's mandate.


In considering whether a party should be eligible for costs, the Board may consider whether the party is a commercial entity, having regard to its commercial interests, frequency of intervenor status, and other factors relevant to the public interest.  


Northeast submits that it's representing the interests of ratepayers by virtue of this motion, and it's representing the interests of the Board's objective and mandate of competition.  


While Northeast is a commercial entity and is actively contemplating a liquefaction venture, this motion relates to Union's Hagar facility, not to Northeast's proposed facility.  Northeast is not a frequent intervenor or party of types to this Board, and it shouldn't be excluded from a cost award in the circumstances.


And finally, on page 7 we submit that a lot of time and effort has gone into this, which is -- on behalf of Northeast, which it didn't contemplate having to be here speaking to these issues, but felt that it was necessary.  And we believe that it did so and advocated in the public interest by doing so and contributed to an enhanced understanding of the issues.


We attempted on behalf of Northeast to participate reasonably within the process.  Northeast has complied with all orders and requirements of the Board.  We've made every effort to try to cooperate; no conduct on behalf of Northeast to unnecessarily prolong these proceedings.


In the circumstances, we would ask the Board to exercise its discretion and award costs to Northeast in respect of this motion.


Subject to any questions that the Panel may have, those are Northeast's submissions.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:
     MS. LONG:  Mr. Lederman, it probably goes without saying, but you're asking for a request -- your request is for the costs of this motion regardless of whether or not you're successful?

     MR. LEDERMAN:  That is correct.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  We have no further questions.


Ms. Blanchard, are you next?  


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. BLANCHARD:
     MS. BLANCHARD:  I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Just as a starting point, I would like to submit that CME certainly supports the position of Northeast in this motion, and it agrees that section 29 does apply in this case and that forbearance should be exercised by the Board.


And in providing my submissions on behalf of CME, I'm going to use my best efforts not to duplicate what my friend has already ably presented to the Board.  But I would like to add a little more colour in terms of the ratepayers' perspective on this particular issue.


And as a starting point, I would like to say that the message that ratepayers are receiving from Union Gas and other gas utilities, as was demonstrated by the exhibit contained in our compendium relating to the presentation given by Union at the Energy Forum this year, is that business diversification is coming.  It's something that gas utilities are looking at as a way of increasing the bottom line, and it's something that we expect to be increasingly at issue before the Board.  And as a result, this is a case that needs to be carefully considered from a principled perspective, in terms of the application of section 29 and what flows from a decision on that motion, because when business diversification is undertaken by regulated utilities and those business diversification efforts lead those utilities into competitive markets, all sorts of issues are raised.

It's not necessarily a negative thing, but it's something that needs to be carefully looked at from the perspective of the Board.  

We would also submit that this is not something that's new to the Board, although it's possibly something that's cyclical.  There was some discussion earlier today about the undertakings that were given in the late '90s from Union Gas and Enbridge to the Minister, relating to their involvement in activities that are outside of the normal scope of the regulated business.  And those undertakings 

represent another effort to try to demarcate this sphere of 

discretion that the utility might have.  

We submit that section 29 is an important tool for dealing with this type of situation, where you've got a utility engaging in what we say is a competitive market, and that all of the requirements for section 29 are met in this case.

So I'm going to do a quick run-through of our view on section 29, and start by saying that there are two questions of fact that the Board needs to consider and 

make a determination on, before it decides whether or not it's required to forbear from regulating.  

The first is:  Have we identified the relevant service, product?  Are we looking at the right thing?

And in this case, we would submit that what is the class of service or product is an LNG liquefaction service.  

There was a lot of discussion about the fact that this service that is being proposed by Union is interruptible somehow changes the character of that service.  And we would submit that there is insufficient evidence to conclude that this service is anything other than the same service that is being provided by Northeast in the competitive market.  

We've heard from the witness for Northeast that there are lots of different ways to provide LNG liquefaction services in the competitive market.  There are different service delivery models out there, smaller facilities, larger facilities, greenfield facilities.  We've heard that there are utilities who are also undertaking this, and we would submit that the fact that this service is 

interruptible doesn't make it different from the other services.  

We are dealing with a single class of product, a single class of service, and that is LNG liquefaction.  So once we've identified that, we need to consider whether -- and I'm just reading from the Act now:

"... those services will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest."  

This is not contested in this proceeding.  There has been no evidence that Union disputes that the market for LNG is competitive, or that it will be competitive.  And  that's the test:  Is it competitive?  Or will it be competitive?  

There also no suggestion that consumers of LNG gas require the protection of regulation.  They are the people who will be paying for the service, and the evidence of Union is that that class of consumer does not require the protection of rate regulation.  

So there is no public interest in regulating the service, and there is no dispute that it's a competitive market.  

There is evidence before the Board that regulation of this service could hurt the market by providing Union with a relatively risk-free entry into the market, in terms of the capital investment underlying the service.  

So we don't have any persuasive evidence that the 

service should be regulated, and certainly some genuine concerns about the prospect of regulating it.  

I would also like to touch briefly on the regulation.  There has been some discussion of Ontario Regulation 161/99, which provides that in most circumstances, motor vehicle fuel gas is not to be regulated under section 36.

It's not CME's position that this is necessarily 

determinative of the issue, but certainly it reflects the 

intention of the legislature in terms of identifying a market, which, in and of itself, doesn't require regulation.  

So motor vehicle fuel, not an industry that requires regulation, and is excluded from section 36 regulation in most cases.  

Now, we have heard that the LNG gas that's going to be produced at Hagar could be used for another purpose, but clearly, the primary purpose is for transportation fuel.

So again, all signs point to this being a service which does not require regulation by the Board.  

So in our submission, there are two findings:  What's the product, and is there sufficient competition in the market to protect the public interest?

In our submission, both of those requirements have been met, and that is the threshold.  Once those determinations are made, forbearance is mandatory under section 29 of the Act.  

It's not relevant to that determination whether regulation will have some benefit in the market, or whether entry into the market by Union will have relatively minor effect because it's producing less volume.  

All of these items that have been advanced by Union in support of its request for a regulated rate for its LNG service, in our submission, are not material to the question at hand, which is:  What is the service?  Is it competitive?  Is it in the public interest to regulate?  

If you go back to section 29, once you've made those determinations, you are then directed to section 29(4), which says where the Board has determined that a particular class of service is or will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest, then -- I apologize it's subsection (3) -- the Competition Act will apply, notwithstanding that you are dealing with a regulated entity.

So once you've made the determination, the ball is passed to the Competition Act, the Compensation Board, and they're going to deal with competition issues going forward.  And that's the division of labour that's been established by the legislature.  

So in our submission, all of the tests have been made out in section 29, as I've stated, and the Board should, in our submission, exercise forbearance and refrain from providing a regulated rate for the LNG service.  

Now, the implications of this as a starting point 

are that all of the incremental costs of establishing that 

service will be borne by Union's shareholders, and not by the ratepayers.  And that means that the risk that this venture will be unsuccessful remains with the shareholders.  

We've heard that, you know, there's going to always be a prudence review on rebasing.  But at the end of the day, there is still a possibility, if this was in regulation, that notwithstanding the failure or the potential failure of the service, it could be demonstrated on rebasing that 

there was a reasonable basis to pursue it at the time.  So 

there's still a transfer of risk that happens once the service is brought into regulation, and we would submit that as a result of the application of section 29, this risk is properly remaining with the utility.  

The other consequence, or the other matter that 

flows from a Decision under section 29, is the need for a 

determination about what the appropriate mechanism is for ensuring that the non-utility service is assuming its full share of fully allocated costs for the Hagar facilities, which are currently fully funded by the ratepayers.

And this is something that was discussed by Union's witnesses as well when they were asked to consider the hypothetical, and in our submission is something that still requires consideration by the Board and which we are assuming will be dealt with in the following days.


CME does not agree that the cost allocation methodology that was developed by Union in the context of setting its regulated rate for an LNG service is an appropriate basis for determining that cost allocation, and we hope to have the opportunity to explore that issue in more depth in the coming days.


It will be -- it will also be CME's position in the next stage of these proceedings that the Board is not constrained by the IRM in determining how to set fair compensation for ratepayers for the use of the utility asset by the non-regulated service.


Those are our submissions in this case.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Blanchard.  The Panel has no questions.  Thank you.


Dr. Higgin, Ms. Grice, are you going next?  

     DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, we're ready to go.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  


SUBMISSIONS BY DR. HIGGIN:
     DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


So from the evidence we've heard, Energy Probe believes the LNG transportation fuel market in Ontario is still not yet competitive, but, importantly, will be in the future if the market develops as is forecast.


Accordingly, the conclusion then is there is no need for regulation of the LNG transportation fuel market.  We defer to counsel for CME on the legal aspects of section 29.1 forbearance and on section 36 on the Regulation 161/99, since we have no counsel here.


But Energy Probe has concerns that if the Hagar LNG transportation fuel project is viewed as a commercial business, then by undertaking the project at its existing LNG facility, Union has several current and future potential competitive advantages compared to other market entrants and to greenfield LNG transportation fuel plants.


These are several, but we will note, as others have, the cost structure as it relates to the cost of service, including fuel supply, amongst other aspects.


We are strongly in favour of the Union Hagar LNG transportation fuel project being viewed by the Board as a non-utility service which should be operated by an affiliate of Union Gas.


We have concerns, as Ms. Blanchard has, about the allocation of the costs, which we will explore again in phase 2.  We have quite serious concerns about the cost allocation as proposed.


So in sum, we believe it's important to look at the other aspects of this case, and that is how those costs should be allocated within the context of a non-utility business.  And we believe we need to find a more equitable proposal than Union has come up with.


So anyway, in sum, Energy Probe supports the motion by Northeast, and those are our submissions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.


Mr. Rubenstein?  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RUBENSTEIN:
     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, Panel.  Let me first start by saying that our assumption for these arguments is that if the Board grants the motion for section 29, the issue of how to split Hagar between utility, non-utility, the cost allocation issues, how that works in the context of an IRM agreement will be a phase 2 issue.

So the question today is just simply:  Has it met the test of section 29, and that's what I seek to address today.


This is the first time the Board has been asked to consider a request for an Order pursuant to section 29 of the Ontario Energy Board Act to forbear from regulating a specific product or service brought not by a regulated utility who seeks to undertake the regulated -- the now regulated service, but from a third party who seeks an order so that it believes it can fairly compete with the regulated utility.  And that's very unique.


In the limited experience the Board has with applications pursuant to section 29 that have been brought by regulated utilities -- that being Toronto Hydro in EB-2013-0234, although that application was settled on other grounds.  And while raised in the context of a generic proceeding on the Board's own motion in NGEIR, they were sought among other parties and supported the two major regulated natural gas utilities, Enbridge and Union.


Here, it's a third party, Northeast Midstream, who's planning to build its own LNG facility, and seeks the Board's forbearance from regulating the activity which Union has brought an application for, on the basis that there's sufficient competition to protect the public interest.


But beyond the wording of section 29, Union's application will provide it with an unfair advantage, because it claims that the risk will be underwritten by distribution ratepayers, which include Ontario's public schools.


Union, in turn, has resisted the motion not on the basis that it believes there isn't or won't be sufficient competition -- in fact, it essentially agrees with that -- but simply that the forbearance request is premature and that there's special considerations.


SEC supports the motion.  The evidence on the record from both Dr. Gaske, spoken today, and in the written -- in his affidavits and Union's that the market will be sufficiently competitive to protect the public interest.


Since Union comes in with no market share and the Hagar facility will provide very little supply of LNG as a proportion of the geographic market, there is no market power that needs to be constrained to protect the public interest.


The public interest, as you know, is a broad concept and differs by the context of the specific situation, generally encapsulated by the statutory objectives for natural gas under section 2 of the Act, as specific for an application seeking forbearance from a provision that would apply to natural gas.


Consumers of natural gas benefit from proper competition because it ensures that in this case a non-core service, such as LNG, of Union's is not even implicitly subsidized by Union's distribution ratepayers, and there is a subsidization that will occur by distribution ratepayers.


While Northeast Midstream may exaggerate the extent of the subsidization through the risk of underwriting, it is precedent in Union's application.


Paragraphs 9 through 11 of Union's evidence on the motion, it denied -- and as discussed earlier today, denies Northeast Midstream's claim on the basis that during the IRM period, so until 2019, the incremental costs that will be expended to create and maintain the rate -- the capital and O&M costs will be covered through the L1 rate, and if the volumes do not equate to a level which allows for full recovery of these costs, they will borne by Union.

This is correct.  But it's the second part of Union's response at paragraph 11, which, while technically correct, does not provide the full picture.

Union claims that the Board, upon rebasing, will have a full review of the costs associated with the liquefaction service.  What I understand Union to be saying is that if the forecasted service does not materialize as planned or the volumes do not make the business case proposition viable, the Board could, upon rebasing, deny the costs, which would be at Union's risk.


But it's important to understand that -- what the full review would look like and what the real risks to ratepayers would be in that case.  While ultimately the Board will have the ability to deny any future incremental O&M costs upon rebasing, its ability to deny incremental capital costs -- that is, the capital costs that are at issue in this proceeding -- will be more limited.  Since those costs will have already been incurred by Union, the Board will be utilizing what's been known as the prudence test to determine if those costs should be included in rate base.


That test asks the Board to look at the reasonableness of the expenditures, not at the time that it would be included in rate base, but when they were incurred by Union.


The test does not allow the Board to use hindsight, so the Board would be considering what Union knew now or at the time that it puts the shovels in the ground for these facilities and the reasonableness of undertaking those expenses at that time.


It may very well be that the L1 service becomes uneconomic by 2019, the year of rebasing, but the Board may also determine that at the time -- but the Board will be forced to look at the time the investment is made in 2015 or 2016, if it was reasonable and prudent for Union to undertake it.  Well, there may be risk.  It's not -- the Board will have to look at that period of time.  

Ratepayers -- if the Board agrees that in 2015 or 2016 the incremental costs were prudent, but later on it becomes economic -- ratepayers would bear the costs of the assets and rate base if they are used and useful, and it will bear that risk even if the assets become uneconomic as a business proposition.  

The evidence on the record, and Union's position on the motion to SEC, seem to confirm Northeast Midstream's 

view that the distribution ratepayers will underwrite or subsidize Union's L1 rate endeavour.

Union is essentially saying:  We agree the market is going to be competitive, but let's wait until some future time to determine if the Board should forebear.

To SEC, it sounds like what Union is saying is that:  Once we can determine that our entry into the market is a success, then the Board can determine of it should forbear.  In the meantime, ratepayers will bear some level of risk.

SEC submits that is not appropriate.  

On the issue of the unique characteristics, one that was spoken a lot about is the interruptible nature of the service.  

Interruptibility makes the service different than something that Northeast or others may offer in a firm nature.  There is a difference between firm and interruptible.  I think the extent of that may be exaggerated by Union, but there is some difference.

But in fact, that actually goes to the issue that the market is competitive, since, if anything, on an uninterruptible basis, Union is providing an inferior product than others in the marketplace, and Union's entry would actually have less effect on the market as a whole because of that.  

Let me briefly speak about the application of O Reg 161/99 that was raised by Northeast.  While it is likely that the ultimate use of the LNG will be for transportation of heavy -- for motor vehicles, as admitted in a response to a question I asked Union's witnesses this afternoon, it has no visibility of the end use of that.  So the Board cannot ensure that there aren't other uses of LNG.  In the evidence, it talks about there is potentially, theoretically, other uses besides transportation fuels.  

The Board cannot ensure that whatever use the LNG produced out of the Hagar facility will only be  used for motor vehicle fuel and transportation fuel.  As I understand the language Mr. Lederman brought to your attention from Union's non-binding call, it was talking about –- it was limited to transportation fuel.

First, Union, as I just said, Union cannot confirm that would be the only use.  It only knows who -- the tanker truck that picks it up it; it doesn't know the end-use.  But also it's only talking about transportation fuel.  The Act talks about "for the purposes of motor vehicle fuel," and as Ms. Van Der Paelt discussed, there is potential for marine use.

Let me finally speak briefly about conditions that the Board may want to consider if it does agree that section 29 applies.  And the Board may want to do this by way of conditions under section 23 of the Act, its implicit authority, or through regulating the activity in part.  

The evidence you heard today and through the written materials is that the LNG market is in its infancy, and  the Board may want to provide some recognition of that in its ultimate Order.  And that may be through a sunset clause, or some explicit recognition today that the market, while it appears it will be sufficiently competitive, at some point down in the future market conditions may change and the Board may need to review its Decision.  

While Union stated that it's not ruling out greenfield facilities but that it believes that it would be outside the scope of legislation to begin with, and I'm assuming discussion with respect to O Reg 161/99, that may or may not be the case.

But the Board may want to consider, because of its infancy, that the market dynamics may change for Union, and the Board may want to consider that, depending on how things unfold.  

Those are our submissions.

QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

     MS. HARE:  Mr. Rubenstein, I think I missed your second point, so I am trying to read it on the screen.  So maybe you could repeat it, not the condition dealing with the sunset date, but the second.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It was essentially an extension of that, and the Board may want to set a sunset date or just make an explicit recognition in its Decision.

While I believe the Board always has the authority to revisit a section 29 Order, it may want to make an explicit  understanding and referencing that while the outlook looks like it is competitive and will be competitive, it is in its infancy and that makes it different than, say, the storage market was.  

     MS. HARE:  Thank you.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Brett?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BRETT:

     MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Panel, and I'll finish by quarter to, of course, if for no other reason than I can't be here on Thursday, or whenever the next day is.  

BOMA believes that there is a competitive market and there will be a greater competitive market for the service.  It's small at the moment, but there are, we've heard, three different facilities in Ontario, and there are -- and there's liquefied gas being sent into Ontario from Quebec and from Indiana.  

There are three, I guess -- I'm not so certain whether 

the three facilities are both dispensing facilities and 

manufacturing facilities; that is, liquefaction.  I think at least one of them is, and two of the others may be dispensing facilities.  

So there's the beginnings of a market and there's a market in Quebec.  There appears to be, from one's general reading, a market in North America in many places, and it appears to be growing.  

The second point is that liquefaction is not a utility 

service.  It just is not.  I mean, it's one thing to talk about conditioning gas.  You condition gas by removing impurities and water; that's not the same.  

Liquefaction is not conditioning gas.  Liquefaction is essentially manufacturing a liquid form of gas from the gaseous product.  And if you asked yourself do any 

of these people that are building liquefaction plants along the Gulf Coast to export billions of BCF to Japan, or Korea, or to Europe, do they regard themselves as conditioning gas, I don't think so.  They're, by and large, owned by separate entities.  

This is a much smaller facility, but it still is liquefaction.  It's not conditioning gas, and therefore it's not -- and if you look at the guidelines, they would say it's not a utility service under the definition of the guidelines.  Guidelines say consumers shall not, or Union shall not, except through affiliate, carry on any business 

activity other than transmission, distribution or storage.  

Well, liquefaction is none of those three things, in my view or in BOMA's view.  

The third point is that Union is proposing to -- 

Union's proposal, as you've heard from others, and I won't dwell on it very much, but I did exchange -- we asked interrogatories on it, and we had a discussion this morning with the witnesses.  

It's unfair to ratepayers.  It's done essentially on the back of ratepayers, in the sense that, to repeat the obvious, the capital costs that Union incurs will eventually become part of the rate base, and that will be regardless of the success or failure of this venture.  

The second point is that the profit -- we didn't get 

a clear idea from Union, I don't believe, of the difference 

between the incremental revenues and the incremental costs that were going to ensue over the next few years.  And so I'm not sure even there whether ratepayers wouldn't end up underwriting the operating side.

This question of impact on ratepayers is clouded somewhat by the fact that we're in the middle of an IRM program.  If we were in a cost of service hearing today for the next year, I think it would be very clear what the impacts on ratepayers are.  At the moment it's been a little bit clouded by the fact that we're in this IRM program for the next three years, but the problem is -- and we explored this in BOMA 8.  You will recall in BOMA 8 we asked Union whether or not they would impute revenue.


And you folks have -- I'm sure can remember back to cases years ago where essentially the utility was providing some sort of an ancillary service.  And those were cost of service years.  But the issue always was, if you took the assets that were supporting that ancillary service and you looked at the revenue that that service generated, was that revenue achieving a utility rate of return, allowing that ancillary business to achieve an ancillary -- regulated the allowed rate of return for the utility as a whole.  And if it wasn't, the Board would impute revenue, effectively saying you, the shareholder, have to make this up, so that you are reaching -- your ancillary service is reaching an equivalent utility rate of return.  Otherwise the other ratepayers are effectively underwriting your operation.


So they -- Union made it very clear they would not do that.  Now, Mr. Thompson had another way of coming at that, but in any event, Union has said:  We're not going to impute revenue.


And so from my point of view, from BOMA's point of view it's -- you know, it's -- what they're proposing is not a fair way to do this, if you -- quite apart from section 29.  And if that's what we're left with at the end of the day, then that's not a very good situation for ratepayers, and what we will be arguing in the next phase of this or what we will be exploring in the next phase of this is to what extent ratepayers are being asked to underwrite this in the event that you do not say that this is -- that section 29 should apply.


We would urge you to say that section 29 does apply, for the reasons I've given and a couple of other reasons I'm going to give in a moment.  But -- so, you know, the two are interrelated, because the question -- you know, what options do we have as ratepayers?


The next thing is that the -- if you look at BOMA 25 it talks about the amounts of -- the magnitude of the capacity for liquefaction and the magnitude of the amounts of the interruption –- interruptibility that has taken place in the last five years.  It's not very much.


And so to say it's interruptible, well, yes, it is interruptible.  It will be interruptible once in ten years if there's a -- if a major pipeline goes out in northern Ontario.  I mean interruptible to the point beyond what Union has already allocated.  Union has allocated 314,000 PJs, you heard this afternoon, to take account of interruptibility.


I guess the point, to put it in very simple terms, is you're -- what they're saying is interruptible is technically interruptible, but it really is very close to a firm service, because they've already allowed in their computations for maintenance, boil-off and some 300,000 PJs to cover off emergency moments.


Bear in mind that last winter the total amount that was -- had to be gasified was 55,000, so that gives you sort of a sense of relative numbers.


Now, Union said that this is a demonstration project, and it is in some sense, I suppose, but it will establish Union in the marketplace with a lot of truckers if it goes the way they're planning, at, you know, five or ten loads per trucking company, and it will allow them to gear up later if they wish with a full-scale plant, which they say would be unregulated.


So it seems to me that, A, the demonstration isn't really required to make this market go, and B, characterizing this as a demonstration plant is a way of sticking your toe in the water and getting a preferable position relative to other vendors and asking your ratepayers to bear a significant part of the risk for that.


Second-last argument is that Union, I think, has said it will still go ahead.  Even if you say section 29.1 applies, it will go ahead with its cost allocation, and it has the option of going ahead with this venture on a non-utility basis and using the cross-charge that Mr. Tetreault was talking about.  And the way I heard them, it seemed to me likely that they would proceed.  


And then finally, with respect to the -- you know, there are three issues, sort of, that are all somewhat related here.  One is:  What is a utility service and what isn't?  The other is:  What has the government decided?

The government has, in certain cases, directed the utilities to enter into areas which, in certain circumstances, might be deemed to be competitive areas.


However, the government has not directed the utility to enter into the provision of NGV for transportation, as they have, for example, for a range of energy efficiency and renewable and other activities.


So I think that there ought to be ways to distinguish this case.  If you say section 29.1 does apply here, I think that that makes sense on the basis of the arguments we've heard.


In going forward, I don't think that you should think that it set a precedent necessarily for every single case that's brought to you by the utilities that wish to get involved in some other -- some activity other than what we would normally think of as distribution, transmission and storage of gas.


So those are my arguments.  Thank you very much.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.


Mr. Millar?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:
     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and I think I can finish by quarter to 5:00, if that assists.


Madam Chair, I will not repeat anything that we've already heard, but it is Staff's submission that the motion should be granted.

One of the primary reasons for the Board's existence is to prevent the abuse of monopoly power, and where monopoly power does not exist because of competition, there is no need for regulation.


Section 29 specifically addresses this.  and it might be helpful, just so we can keep this in mind, it is at tab 8 of my friend's compendium, Mr. Lederman's compendium.


But what it states is:

"On an application or in a proceeding" -- which we have here -- "the Board shall make a determination to refrain, in whole or part, from exercising any power or performing any duty under this Act if it finds as a question of fact that a licensee, person, product, class of products, service or class of services is or will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest."


And I ask that you note the use of the word "shall" and not "may" with respect to refraining from regulation.  If you find that there is competition sufficient to protect the public interest, you are required to refrain from regulation.


So that's really the only question before you today.  The Act does not say you will refrain from regulation unless the underlying assets will still be used in part for a regulated service, or you will regulate unless there are some thorny cost allocation issues.  It simply says you shall cease from refraining in whole or part if you make that finding of fact.


So that's the question before you today, is:  Is there competition?  Is there or will there be competition sufficient to protect the public interest?  

And the unusual thing about this motion is that, frankly, Northeast and Union appear to largely agree on this issue.  Northeast filed evidence by Dr. Gaske, and that was reviewed thoroughly by my friend Mr. Lederman, so 

I won't go through that again.

But again, Union appears to largely agree with this assessment that the market will be competitive.  You will recall I asked that question directly.  In fact, I chose my 

words carefully.  I was essentially quoting from the Act.

And we'll see this on the transcript when it's finished, but I believe the answer from Union was that they believed the market for this service will be competitive sufficient to protect the public interest.  

So I'm not sure what more there is to say on whether 

or not the test has been met.  It appears the parties agree to that.  

Now, there still are some additional issues that will have to be resolved, and my friends have spoken to those.  There are some issues relating to cost allocation, as I understand it, and there's probably also going to be some question regarding exactly what will happen to any revenues earned through the cross-charge that I discussed with Mr. Tetreault.  

But I believe those would be issues that will be explored in the second phase of the proceeding.  

And those are my submissions, Madam Chair.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you very much, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Keizer, given the hour, I think that we will have to postpone your submissions until Thursday.  And, Mr. Lederman, your reply until Thursday as well.  

     MR. KEIZER:  That's fine, Madam Chair.  I look forward to it.  

     MS. LONG:  So we will see you then on Thursday, and we are adjourned.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:42 p.m.
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